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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present to shareholders the

annual results of Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its

subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

| am taking this opportunity to express our gratitude to the Group’s staff for their

contributions enabling the Group to work through a transition year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

VR & T RE R TEAE

Factory Buildings in Heyuan Daiwa Industrial Complex

For the year ended 31 March 2011,
turnover was reported as HK$1,781.0
million (2010: HK$1,628.4 million),
representing a growth of 9% when
compared with last financial year. Gross
profit increased by 33% to HK$154.4
million (2010: HK$116.0 million).

o The earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) were HK$34.4 million
(2010: loss of HK$5.6 million),
representing an increase of
HK$40.0 million when compared to

the last corresponding period.

M(BRAERBAEN) A—FARNAT o The operating profit (EBIT) of the Group was HK$19.8 million (2010: loss
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of HK$22.3 million), representing an increase of HK$42.1 million when

compared to the last corresponding period.

. SEXAFELEEBEAR  HRNABERIFE o Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company for the year was
ANEEEFANEZTEBL(ZE—ZF & HK$8.2 million (2010: loss of HK$31.6 million) which represents a turn-
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

tE EFEIE N around operation as the Group achieved an increase of HK$39.8 million

when compared to the last corresponding period.

TE Gl e Basic earnings per share was HK2.70 cents (2010: Basic loss per share

was HK10.42 cents).
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The Board of Directors has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK1.0 cent per ordinary share payable to shareholders whose names appear on
the Register of Members of the Company on 2 September 2011. Subject to the
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, the dividend
will be payable on 19 September 2011. During the year, the Group did not

declare any interim dividend.
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

At 31 March 2011, the Group’s net current assets amounted to HK$129.9 million
(2010 restated: HK$125.7 million) and the shareholders’ funds were HK$371.0
million (2010: HK$360.6 million).

Due to the adoption of an interpretation to existing accounting standards — HK
Interpretation 5, “Presentation of Financial Statement — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” (the
“Interpretation”) issued by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
term loans under a loan agreement which includes a clause that gives the lender
the unconditional right to call the loan at any time shall be classified as current
liabilities. Given that the Group’s term loans contain similar clause, they had been
reclassified as current liabilities under the Interpretation with the comparative
figures being restated. Accordingly, the current liabilities increased by HK$53.5
million (2010:
Interpretation for the year as a result decreased to 1.26 (2010: 1.24) from 1.39
(2010: 1.34) under the treatment in the past.

increased by HK$36.7 million). The current ratio under the

With the increase in turnover in the reported year, inventory level was maintained
at a relatively low level of HK$227.6 million (2010: HK$235.9 million) at the year
end. Average stock turnover was controlled to around 52 (2010: 53) days. The
trade receivable (exclude notes receivable) increased by HK$23.8 million to
HK$219.0 million (2010: HK$195.2 million) due to the increase in turnover.

The year ended cash and bank balances were HK$104.4 million (2010:
HK$166.6 million). One of the main reasons that the cash and bank balance were
reduced was the increase of the notes receivable. As at 31 March 2011 note
receivables amounting to HK$35.8 million (2010: HK$13.0 million) represented
bank acceptance notes denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) with short average

maturity of within 120 days.
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Total available banking facilities of the Group were approximately HK$436.0
million, of which HK$89.5 million was available for use. Finance lease obligations
outstanding as at 31 March 2011 amounted to HK$1.1 million (2010: HK$
Nil). At 31 March 2011,

HK$569.0 million in favor of banks for the granting of banking facilities to certain

the Company committed corporate guarantees of

subsidiaries. The gearing ratio which was defined as total borrowings after
netting off cash and cash equivalents, to shareholders’ funds, excluding minority
interests, was 0.47 (2010: 0.18).

The Group’s assets were mostly financed by shareholders’ funds, trade payables
and bank borrowings. Trade payables were repayable within one year. Bank
borrowings composed of trade financing repayable within one year and term
loans repayable in installments of 3 to 4 years based on original contractual
maturity. The total bank borrowings were increased due to the growth in

business.

The borrowings were mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and US
dollars to prevent currency risk. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Canadian dollars and Renminbi.
The Group matched the payment and receipts of foreign currency arising from
routine purchases and sales to control and minimize the financial cost and
exchange risk. Most of the Group’s borrowings were interest bearing at floating
rates which were based on the Hong Kong HIBOR rate or London LIBOR rate.
The Group had not engaged in any speculative derivatives or structured products

transaction.

In the reported year, the Group did not issue any new ordinary shares. The

Group did not repurchase any ordinary shares in the open market.
BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECT

In this reported year, labour cost of manufacturing segment kept increasing
due to the increase of minimum wages, labour shortage and the appreciation
of RMB. In the manufacturing segment, the Group operated in accordance with
its normal production procedures and stocking plans for raw materials. Due to
the prolonged contraction of the American and European markets with the keen
competition from small local Chinese manufacturers, the Group had realigned
the product mix and the manufacturing segment had strategically discontinued

certain low-margin and low business entry barrier products.

Notwithstanding the global sluggish economic environment, it was encouraging
to see that business of the Group in all segments other than the consumer

electronics had recorded remarkable growth.
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The Group is engaged in the following major businesses:

— Electronic Components Distribution;

- EMS (Contract Electronic Manufacturing Services);

- Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components & Parts

Manufacturing; and

— Personal Computer Products Distribution.

Electronic Components Distribution

Electronic components distribution constitutes the core business of the Group
accounting for 63% of the Group’s turnover in the reported year. This distribution
segment of business reached a record high of HK$1,117.0 million (2010:
HK$1,083.2 million) representing a growth of 3% when compared with the last
financial year. The Segment keeps on eliminating non-contributive distribution
line which would be replaced by the new principal suppliers. By this action, the
Segment disposed some minor inventories of the given up suppliers at low prices
and thus, gross profit was HK$89.5 million representing a slightly decrease of
0.6% when compared with last year (2010: HK$90.0 million).

Business in this segment is mainly to act as authorized distributor of various
renowned brand names including the Group’s own manufactured electronic
components. Major customers are manufacturers in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Products of this segment includes diodes, transistors, integrated circuits (IC),
power modules, MCU, MCP, CPU, memory chips and display modules etc.
Applications of these components are mobile phones, electronic toys, power
supplies, radios, CD players, DVD players, TV, LED illuminations, handheld
electronic devices, amplifiers and automobiles. This segment also provides

professional design service in MCUs for solutions of consumer electronics.

The Group has about 30 years of experience in distribution segment. In addition
to its solid base in Hong Kong, the Group is one of the biggest distributors
pioneer to penetrate in the PRC market for more than 20 years. The Group has
built up strong sales network and good logistic foundation in major PRC cities
by the joint management between Hong Kong and local Chinese elites. The
performance of Shenzhen, Shanghai and Beijing sales offices are outstanding
among competitors. In order to explore new business opportunities, the Group
has further strengthened the engineering capability in providing total solutions to
customers and will continue bringing in new principal suppliers to sustain future

growths.
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The Group has maintained an array of authorized distributorships with renowned
suppliers such as Toshiba, On Semiconductor, Arnold Magnetics, Panasonic, On
Bright, Isocom, Johanson, Magnetics, COS, Chino-Excel Technology Corp (CET),
Diodes, Rohm, Lite-on, Everlight, AEM and Abilis Systems.

Beijing, Shanghai and Shenzhen sales divisions kept playing an important role in
this segment. The Group has also established sales office in Zhaoging, Chengdu

and Xiamen.
EMS (Contract Electronic Manufacturing Service)

The Group has engaged in the production of telecommunication modules in
mobile phone base stations, radar parts, and electronic modules in automobiles
as well as PCB assembly for industrial purpose products. The facility is equipped
with high speed SMT production lines with nitrogen filled reflow furnaces, precise
solder paste screen printer, etc. Process reliability can be ensured by the in-

house RoHS Scanning Systems and X-Ray Inspection Machine.

With the state of art of the settings in production facilities together with the
highly reliable quality system of the Group, turnover and gross profit of the EMS
segment achieved an substantial growth in the reported year. Turnover of this
segment increased remarkably to HK$201.8 million (2010: HK$150.4 million),
representing a growth of 34% when compared to last year. The gross profit of
this segment also increased by 79% to HK$19.9 million (2010: HK$11.1 million).

With effective and continuous investments in engineering technology of
developments, manufacturing process and quality assurance, the Group
has earned recognition from core customers not only by continual support
of purchase orders, but also by gaining transfer of business orders from

competitors.

The Group has started to explore the possibility of co-development of new
products with customers. The Group believed that this direction of EMS
production will distinguish the Group from its competitors. In the reported year,
by the joint effort with customers, the Group won a “design win” in the outdoor
solar engineer power system which will bring in considerable contribution to this

segment.
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Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components and
Parts Manufacturing

Turnover of this segment was HK$174.1 million (2010: HK$132.8 million)

representing an increase of 31%.

Gross profit recovered to HK$16.6 million

(2010: gross loss of HK$10.5 million).

(a)

Consumer Electronics

Due to the substantial increase in minimum wages and the enforcement
of labor law in China, the production costs for sincere manufacturers
have increased substantially year by year. At the same time, plenty of
informal small size factories are set up and operate in a hit and run style.
These factories are aiming at small, low quality and low margin orders
of low entry barrier products. As a Hong Kong originated manufacturer
investing in China, the Group has to follow every laws and regulations
strictly and thus faces severe price competition from those informal

factories.

To prevent further risk in running marginal profit business, the Group
has gradually walked away from entry level consumer electronics and
spear head to quality products which require higher technology such as
Bluetooth audio, wireless audio, iPhone hi-fi/dockings, two-way-radios,
citizen band radio and cordless Dect phone products as well as other
digital applications. In the reported year, fruits from the development of
these new products started to grow mature. Orders and sales projection
for these new products were impressive. The Group also invested in the
production of Car Park Camera System and received steady orders with

reasonable margin.

This segment was once the core business of the Group in the Group’s
history but in the reported year, it only shared 4% of the Group’s
turnover. Turnover in this segment was HK$67.1 million (2010: HK$64.0
million) representing a slightly increase by 5%. Gross profit was HK$6.3
million (2010: gross loss of HK$13.9 million).

segment dropped drastically in the past three years because of the

Business size of this

transition from traditional OEM products to the aforesaid new product
lines. In this transition period, the massive production factory was
under-utilised and created a temporarily negative impact to the Group’s
profitability in the last reported year. With the gradual maturity of new

products, this negative impact will be minimized in the coming year.

7 aRNEmEERAERQA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



President’s Statement

(b) EBFTHEMFRIMHLEERE

SECKLABEBBE_+F ERERSE
B BESETR-EBE(RE-GE  BR=

BE - FAA—_ERE HEE_RERBE _&
&) RMEHRN - KFEBRRTHOHEBEZZ
BELEREHEBBRBEFTNEBRIKF -
HREFEREESmEER DB & XM
MEAZA+TARE—RELEERET(ZZ-F
F:RXTFNENATEET) - EFNREFRH
AEEMBEAZ_BZE= R—FZ=+&%

TCF—TF SERTESD) -
EIE%%&)\ BEHHAENRE  BEEET
P —F2ERGEREERENNT
)E'ﬁ%"

B8 A B m AL SH R

AEEB 1989 FHMNIERMEHBEAERAR LT
B -EaneBERKR BRR BR LEREER

& &l “‘T;% - HESR B LR REEK T
REM AR EL AN EMEMNE o OREE
BEREEE -

EAER &E%WZKEFE%%%E%:%)\?)\E*Jr
ERL(ZZ—ZF: — BT _BEBET) BEF

Eﬁﬁtlﬂi’“iﬂﬂﬁ” 2+ mMEMIENESZTZ
E-FNEOTEAL(ZE—ZF: ZFhENTE
BI) o o EIE R X ZRE M iPhone &8l A & I &
8 an KT HE 85 2= KB 3 98 T & 7 Canadian Tires &
L T E B ER RIS TFEKTE o

Walmart

ENMEEERAERA A 8

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

(b) Electronic Components and Parts Manufacturing

The Group had been operating in this industry for more than 20 years.
Products include wire and harnesses, loudspeaker elements, and diodes
(Zener Diodes, Rectifier Diodes, Switching Diodes, Scotty Diodes and
Diacs). In the reported year, the Group replaced some low efficiency
production facilities in Diodes so that the Group was able to keep prices
in a competitive position. With the continuous delivery of quality products
during the year, turnover of this segment increased by 56% to HK$107.0
million (2010: HK$68.8 million). The gross profit of this segment
increased substantially by 203% to HK$10.3 million (2010: HK$3.4

million) when compared with last year.

The Group has also prepared to enter into new package outline in Diodes
to broaden the customer base and further penetrate into the market of

existing and prospective customers.

Personal Computer Products Distribution

The Group has started the distribution of personal computer systems and parts
in North America since 1989. Products in this segment include motherboards,
display cards, hard disk drives, optical storage devices, computer cases, power
supplies, software, memories, desk-top computers, notebook computers,
netbook computers and computer accessories. Business in this segment is

steady.

Turnover of this segment was HK$288.1 million (2010: HK$262.0 million) which
represented a growth of 10% in the reported year. Gross profit also increased by
12% to HK$28.4 million (2010: HK$25.4 million). Major reason for the growth in
this segment was the penetration into mass merchants such as Canadian Tires
and Walmart in iPhone and personal computer accessories. Profit margin of this

new business was above average.
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FUTURE PROSPECT

Impact to the Group’s business on the recent Japan earthquake is not

significant.

The business outlook of the Group’s core business in distribution of electronic
components is positive. In this segment the Group will keep on eliminating low
contributive distribution line by replacement of new principal suppliers. In order
to maintain the Group in a leading position, to enhance further negotiation power
with suppliers and to enable further penetration into different market sectors and
distribution networks, the Group endeavors to seek opportunities of locating new
global suppliers and exploring the possibility to acquire new business partners.
The Group believes that there will be substantial growth in turnover as well as

profit contributions if these corporate actions can be successful.

In the past years, the Group has successfully integrated five production sites
into the two sites in Dongguan and Heyuan. To further concentrate management
efforts and usage of overheads, the Group will finish moving its Dongguan
operations to Heyuan production site by September, 2011. The Group expects
to have a sizable saving of overheads and can also enjoy lower minimum wages
afterward. At the same time, since the number of qualified manufacturers in the
industry was substantially reduced in the recent years, the Group is in a good

position to attract new qualified customers.

In EMS segment, through the joint effort with immediate customers, the Group
won a “design win” in the outdoor solar power and inverter systems which had
already been approved by new ultimate customers from Mexico and Europe. The
management believes that in the coming fiscal year, there will be a considerable

growth in new business in EMS segment.

In the Electronic Component & Parts segment, all the production facilities will be
moved to the Heyuan new production site in August 2011. With this move, there
will be adequate production space for this segment to grow in the coming years.
The Group will also invest in more facilities and engineering effort to explore for
the possibilities of new products and new package outlines. This development

will bring in new contributions in subsequent years.

The Group has already eliminated the manufacturing of entry level consumer
electronics in the past year and had paid substantial costs. The management
believes that the negative impact from this elimination will soon be alleviated by
the positive contribution from the new product lines of two-way-radios, Citizen
Band radio and 2.4G cordless Dect phones as well as iPod peripherals. At the
beginning of new fiscal year, orders from these new product lines grow positively

and they will gradually compensate the loss of business in consumer electronics.

9 aRNEmEERAERQA
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The management believes that in the coming fiscal year the Group will have a

year of steady growth.

EMPLOYEES

At 31 March 2011, the Group employed a total of approximately 2,800
employees (31 March 2010: 3,800 employees; 30 September 2010: 3,000
employees) located in Hong Kong, Canada and PRC.

The Group’s remuneration policy is in line with the prevailing market practices
and is determined on the basis of performance and experience of the individual.
Sales personnel are remunerated by salaries and incentives in accordance
with the achievement of their sales target. General staff are offered year-end
discretionary bonuses, which are based on the divisional performance and
individual appraisals. The Group also provides a Mandatory Provident Fund or

ORSO scheme and medical benefits to all Hong Kong employees.

The Group is committed to devoting more resources in providing internal and
external training to the employees. In addition to sending staff to participate in
seminars and lectures, the Group continues recommending that qualified staff
take part in professional courses such as the ISO9000, TS16949 and Six-Sigma
Quality Systems. The training programs not only enhance employees’ career
development and professional knowledge, but also contribute to upgrading the

management system of the Group.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

the Group for the last five years.

—E——
2011
FET
HK$’000
Turnover 1,781,010
Profit/(loss) attributable to
shareholders 8,194
Total assets 868,325
Total liabilities 497,306
Net assets 371,019
Share capital 30,394
Share premium and
340,651
other reserves
Shareholders equity 371,045
Non-controlling interests (26)
Total equity 371,019

—=E=_=

—= =

2010
TE7T
HK$000

1,628,377

(31,630)
881,902
520,902
361,000

30,394

330,252

360,646
354

361,000

2009
THAT
HK$’000

1,542,134

7,115
745,318
360,747
384,571

30,364

353,732

384,096
475

384,571

The following is a summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of

= AN T+
2008 2007
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,911,025 1,737,449
6,891 10,994
810,902 (73,513
422,258 402,077
388,644 371,436
30,423 27,814
357,340 342,435
387,763 370,249
881 1,187
388,644 371,436

I
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (continued)
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R —FERIEXRE I CERR
TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL BUSINESS SEGMENT FOR 2011

1B A B B E a4 81
Personal computer
products distribution
(16%)

EF LA
Electronic components
distribution (63%)

BFEESNEERS
Contract electronic
manufacturing services (11%)

B HEEMD
Consumer electronics (4%)

B TR R A E
Electronic components & parts
manufacturing (6%)

TE--FERBEE S CEXT
TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT FOR 2011
HAp TN AR

Other Asian countries
(19%)

BE
Hong Kong (34%)

B
Europe (10%)

JEEM
North America
(19%)
EERE
B K pE Turnover
Mainland China (36%)
==z — T
2011 2010
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT RS 8H Electronic components distribution 1,117,003 1,083,193
BTFEESNEERS Contract electronic manufacturing services 201,777 150,352
B SR GAEE Electronic components & parts manufacturing 106,956 68,782
EFHEBER Consumer electronics 67,156 64,030
ETHEBERMETILEM  Consumer electronics and electronic components 174,112 132,812
R Ep A & parts manufacturing
&N B B Sh AT 8 Personal computer products distribution 288,118 262,020
1,781,010 1,628,377

13 EMBEERARAQA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is committed to maintain
good corporate governance standard and procedures to ensure the integrity,
transparency and quality of disclosure in order to enhance the shareholders’

value.

The Company has adopted the principles and complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”)
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 March 2011,

will continuously review and improve the corporate governance practices and

save for the deviations discussed below. The Board

standards of the Company to ensure that business activities and decision making

processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its
own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions (the “Model
Code”).

directors of the Company have confirmed that they have fully complied with the

Having made specific enquiry of all directors of the Company, the

required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31
March 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board focuses on overall strategies and policies with particular attention paid
to the growth and financial performance of the Group. The principal functions of

the Board are to:

—

) establish the strategic direction and development of the Group;

2) determine the broad policies, strategic plans and performance objectives

of the Group;

(3) monitor management performance;

(4) approve financial plans and annual budgets, major funding proposals,

key funding and investment proposals;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

(5) oversee the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls,

risk management, financial reporting and compliance;
(8) assume responsibility for corporate governance.

The Board comprises four executive directors and three independent non-

executive directors.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year to approve annual
and interim results, and to review the business operation and the internal control
system of the Group. Apart from these regular meetings, Board meetings are

also held to approve major or special issues.

Four Board meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2011.

Members of the Board, number of Board meetings held and the attendance of

each member during the year are set out as follows:

HESBERY EESERRE
Number of meetings attended/

Members of the Board Number of Board meetings held

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President) 4/4
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-president) 4/4
Mr. WAN Chor Fai 4/4
Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly 4/4

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT 4/4
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 4/4
Dr. LIU Ngai Wing 4/4

15 AN EERER A A
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received from each independent non-executive directors an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors are

independent.

Given the nature and business objectives of the Company, the Board has a
balance of skill and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. List of directors and their biographical details are set out on

pages 24 to 26.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and chief executive

officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. LAU Tak Wan is the Chairman of the Board and the president of the
Company. In the opinion of the Board, the role of the president and the chief
executive officer is the same. The Board considers that the present structure
provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for efficient
and effective business planning and execution. Hence, the Board believes that it
is in the best interest of the shareholders of the Company that Mr. LAU Tak Wan
will continue to assume the roles of the chairman of the Board and the president
of the Company. However, the Company will review the current structure as and

when it becomes appropriate in the future.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Under the Code provision A.4.1, the non-executive directors should be appointed
for a specific term, subject to re-election and under the Code provision A.4.2,
every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject

to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Currently, the three independent non-executive directors are not appointed for
a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the
annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the provisions of the
bye-laws of the Company, and their appointment will be reviewed when they are

due for re-election.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on, among other things, the Company’s policy and structure for the
remuneration of all directors and senior management of the Company and is
delegated by the Board with the responsibility to determine on behalf of the
Board the specific remuneration packages for all Executive directors and senior

management of the Company.

HEEERE

ZESEERE

No. of Meeting Attended/

Members of Remuneration Committee: No. of Meeting
Independent non-executive directors

Dr. LIU Ngai Wing (Chairman) 11

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 1/1

Executive director
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 11

17 AN EERER A A
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the financial

reporting process and internal control system of the Group and providing advice

and recommendations to the Board.

Audit Committee is also authorised to obtain outside legal or other independent

professional advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant

experience and expertise if it considers this necessary.

Two Audit Committee meetings were held during the year ended 31 March 2011.

Members of the Audit Committee, number of Audit Committee meetings held

and the attendance of each member during the year are set out as follows:

Members of the Audit Committee

Members of Independent non-executive directors:

HEEERE
EREESERNRH
Number of meetings
attended/Number of
Audit Committee

meetings held

Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 2/2
Dr. LIU Ngai Wing 2/2
During the year, the Audit Committee has performed the following duties:

(1) reviewed the annual financial statements with the auditor and reviewed

the unaudited interim financial statements, with recommendations to the

Board for approval;

(2) reviewed the changes in accounting standards and policies as well as

assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)

(3) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and discussed the relevant
issues including financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management functions;

(4) reviewed the compliance issues with the regulatory and statutory

requirements;

(5) considered and recommended the appointment, re-appointment and

approved the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor;

(6) discussed with external auditor the nature and scope of the audit and

reporting obligations; and

(7) reviewed and monitored external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable

standards.
NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company did not establish a Nomination Committee. The duties and
functions of the Nomination Committee recommended in the Code are performed
by the Board collectively with no director being involved in fixing his/her own
terms of appointment and no independent non-executive director being involved

in assessing his own independence.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Board also ensure the timely publication of the

financial statements of the Group.

19 AN EERER A A
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers, the external auditor of the Company,
provided the following services to the Group and their respective fees charged

are set out as follows:

W E Z & F

Type of services Fees charged
FET

HK$’000

Audit services for the Group 2,451
Taxation services 83
Total 2,534

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The directors of the Company acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group for the relevant accounting periods in
accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements. In preparing the financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September 2010 and for the year ended
31 March 2011, the directors have adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently. The financial statements for the reporting year have

been prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out on

pages 35 to 36 in the annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and is
committed to managing business risks and maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the
Group’s assets. The effectiveness of the internal control system was also

discussed on a semi-annual basis with the Audit Committee.



3
ME
R
oK
b
DfF

Corporate Governance Report

REBEEHE () INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
NEET NHEE RGBS HEGE 125 - T{EERZA  The Group’s internal control system encompasses its policies, processes, tasks,
SEEMER - B - and other aspects of the Group that taken together:

(1) DHEEBEHWRERER 28 L WKL (1) facilitate its effective and efficient operation by allowing it to respond
ERET EREMEREENZEER - URES appropriately to significant business, operational, financial, compliance
BRBRREREREEBIZ - B and other risks with a view of achieving business objectives. This
BE  RXTHENFERALIBRRFR LB includes the safeguarding of assets from inappropriate use or from loss
ERBEGNBIRNEE and fraud and ensuring that liabilities are identified and managed;

(2) BREFTLEHBRTLEUNREAIEZHEER (2 help ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
ARAEMEASEINER © & of reliable financial information for internal or external reporting; and

(3) BRETHBZEOIRBAE  URBEBIESRX Q) help ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations, and also

EFEBBUR © with internal policies with respect to the conduct of business.

NERESIEHIE Ty A BB IEBE R HEAEIRME  The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
MeLiEk UWREEEEMIENEKRLEZLLE 2R assurance of no material mis-statement or loss and to manage rather than
f& - UEBAEBZBE - eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group’s

objectives.

21 aRNEmEERAERQA
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the electronic components distribution, contract electronic
manufacturing services, consumer electronics and electronic components and

parts manufacturing and distribution of personal computer products.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution to operating profit by

reportable segments for the year is set out in note 5 to the financial statements.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 37.

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share
totalling HK$3,039,000 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2011. No interim
dividend was declared or paid for the year ended 31 March 2011.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2011 are set out

in note 21 to the financial statements.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 18

to the financial statements.
SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company are set out in note 32 to the financial

statements.
WARRANTS

Details of warrants of the Company are set out in note 34 to the financial

statements.
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RESERVES

The amounts and particulars of material transfers to and from reserves during
the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2011, the reserves of the Company available for distribution
amounted to HK$90,324,000 (2010: HK$90,311,000), including contributed
surplus of HK$72,309,000 (2010: HK$72,309,000).

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed surplus is distributable
to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or
after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the
realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium account.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable donations of HK$260,000 (2010: Nil) during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws and
there was no restriction against such right under the laws in Bermuda, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
each of the last five years until 31 March 2011 is set out on pages 11 to 12.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2011, sales to the five largest customers of the
Group in total accounted for approximately 15% of the Group’s total turnover,
with the largest customer accounted for about 6%. The five largest suppliers
of the Group together in total accounted for approximately 52% by value of the
Group’s total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier accounted for
about 35%.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital)

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.

23 AN EERER A A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Ht
T8>
%ﬁj
Dff
i

Report of the Directors

EE

FEEARBEEAREAAZEFERTOT

HITES

S ERE(ER)

RISk 2+ (BAE L)

FRELLE

EEESRLE

BYFHTES

MR EE

BHUERE

BREEL

BISERE  REBLLRFRBELERBARBTZA
AAMERMAREOKRRESE  EREHREEE
e

REFOEBNTEFESFER  ARBEEALFMA
BERAUERRZERBEFAG LRESR - HEAE

BIEE -

EEREREEABZBAESR

BITES

BISRESE BREST R REAKEZEIMAFRA
ﬁo%%iiiﬁﬁﬁﬁ@%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ>

BEREEFEEERFEETARERB= THK
% Eﬂi$¢%2m BIEEREFERNEREGRB
NERERFEBIER - WARBAREREIOER
2 RBEEERMIBHEELE-

Rkt REA TR REAGEBLEEZRSE - K
LERAKERNBHFTREMBEE  AaAKET
W ANEREMBER - FR—NANFMAKRE
B BRatBEAEBB - TFzE RUBERLER [
BHEABBTFRERNTEF LR

EfNEEAERAER QA 24

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this report

were:

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan (President)

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky (Vice-president)
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

Dr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky and Mr. WAN Chor Fai retire by
rotation in accordance with clause 99 of the Company’s bye-laws and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The terms of office of the directors, including the independent non-executive
directors, are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible for re-election at
the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with the Company’s bye-

laws.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan, aged 61,

Lau graduated from Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as Hong Kong

is the founder and the President of the Group. Mr.

Baptist University) in Sociology and has more than 30 years’ management
and production experience in the electronics industry. Prior to founding the
Group, Mr. Lau had over 6 years’ experience in running his own business in
the electronics industry. He is responsible for the overall corporate planning,

strategic development and marketing of the Group.

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky, aged 54, LAU Tak Wan.

Ms. Chan is the Vice-president of the Group. Also she is the Director of

is the spouse of Mr.

Administration and Finance responsible for administration, human resources and
finance of the Group. Prior to joining the Group in 1998, Ms. Chan has over 20
years of experience in accounting and financial management and at the same

time running her own business for more than 10 years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive directors (continued)

Mr. WAN Chor Fai, aged 53, is the CEO (Manufacturing) of the Group. Mr.
Wan graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in Production and Industrial Engineering and is
responsible for the business development and manufacturing management of the
Group. He has more than 20 years’ experience in manufacturing and marketing.
Prior to joining the Group in 1987, he worked for an international conglomerate
and was in charge of the electronics division.

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly, aged 49, is the CEO (Distribution) of the Group
responsible for the Group’s overall marketing strategy and the distribution of
electronic components. Mr. Mak joined the Group in 1988. He has more than 20
years’ experience in the sales and marketing of electronic components.

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Barry John Buttifant, aged 66, is an independent non-executive Director
appointed by the Group in 1994. In April 2011, Mr. Buttifant rejoined Hsin Chong
Construction Group (“HCCG”) as an executive director. From July 2010 to April
2011, Mr. Buttifant was a Chief Executive Officer of the IDT International Limited.
From October 2009 to March 2010, Mr. Buttifant was a director — corporate
finance of Mission Hills Group (“MHG”) and prior to this appointment, he was
the consultant to the Group since December 2008. Prior to joining MHG, Mr.
Buttifant served as a principal of KLC Kennic Lui & Company, a professional
accounting firm, and managing director of KLC Transactions Limited. Prior to
joining KLC, Mr. Buttifant was the executive director — finance of MHG from
February 2008 till November 2008. From December 2004 to December 2007,
Mr. Buttifant was the managing director of Hsin Chong International Holdings
Limited, a controlling shareholder of HCCG (which was acquired by MHG in
November 2007) and Synergis Holdings Ltd (“Synergis”) (which was acquired
by HCCG in September 2008). Mr. Buttifant was also an alternate director
to both public companies. Mr. Buttifant was an operating partner of Baring
Private Equity Asia Limited. He was also the managing director of Wo Kee Hong
(Holdings) Limited (“Wo Kee Hong”) from 2001 to 2002 and was the Advisor
to the board of directors of Wo Kee Hong from November 2002 to April 2004.
Prior to joining Wo Kee Hong, he was the managing director of IDT International
Limited for over eight years and had worked for Polly Peck Group and Sime
Darby Hong Kong Limited for more than 11 years in the capacity of finance
director and managing director. He has over 32 years of experience in corporate
and financial management in HK. Currently Mr. Buttifant is an independent
non-executive director of Giordano International Limited, and an non-executive
director of HCCG and Synergis, all of which are publicly listed companies in
Hong Kong. Mr. Buttifant also serves as a non-executive director of Global-Tech
Advanced Innovations Inc. (formerly known as Global-Tech Appliances, Inc.), a
NASDAQ company and China Nepstar Chain Drugstore Limited, a NYSE listed
public company. Mr. Buttifant is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants; the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants;
the Chartered Management Institute; the Hong Kong Management Association
and the Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent non-executive directors (continued)

Dr. LIU Ngai Wing, aged 60, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in September 2004. Dr. Liu holds a PhD Degree in
Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hotel and Tourism Management School
of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2008, a Master of Science degree
in Global Business from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002, a Master
of Science Degree in Hotel and Tourism Management from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2001 and a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the Open University of Hong Kong in 1999. He is also an Associate Member
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. From 10 September 2010, Dr.
Liu is an independent non-executive director of Kosmopolito Hotels International
Limited, which is public listed company in Hong Kong. Dr. Liu was previously an
executive director of eSun Holdings Limited and an independent non-executive
director of New Smart Energy Group Limited and 3D-Gold Jewellery Holdings
Limited. The above-mentioned companies are listed or were previously listed in

Hong Kong.

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan, aged 58, was awarded Bachelor of Laws Degree (LLB) by
University of London in 1988 and Post-graduate Certificate in Laws (PCLL) by
University of Hong Kong in 1991. Mr Choi is one of the Principals of Messrs.
Ong & Chung Co., Solicitors. Mr. Choi was admitted as a Solicitor of the High
Court of Hong Kong in 1993 and a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of England
and Wales in 1994.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company and these service contracts will continue thereafter until terminated by

either party for not less than three or six months’ prior written notice.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the directors’ service contracts noted above and the connected
transactions noted as below, no other contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly

or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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(a) RAQRBEREECI10ETZRNFR

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

At 31 March 2011,

executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of

the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief

the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) which were required,
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, or which
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
kept by the Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in the Listing Rules, to be

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each

BRATLERFTEIR
FtEERG 2&E
Number of issued ordinary shares/
underlying shares attached to derivatives

FEmARER BRTEER

Unlisted Warrants Ordinary shares in issue

EEER BAER HEER AR By
EE=He Corporate hi# Personal his# Corporate i3 Other Total ER1
Name of directors interests Notes interests Notes interests Notes interests interests  Percentage
EllS i
Mr. LAU Tak Wan 7,862,388 2 6,557,141 1 147,706,499 283 1,142,854 155,406,494 51.13%
(il ves
Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky 7,862,388 2 4,042,854 1 147,706,499 283 3,657,141 155,406,494 51.13%
FREEE
Mr. WAN Chor Fai - 50,000 - - 50,000 0.016%
AL
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT - 100,000 - - 100,000 0.033%
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1. BEERRL T (BIEEZRBIBEEEAR
A A&7 2,900,000 A%

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd
(T'China Capital |) & z5 B A2 7 7,862,388
R F R R’ 186,788,103 % ° China
Capital 2 B D 2N TEEITRAE 2 5£ £ 5
B TESZETEEITRAARZ T H
Ao

3. Leading Trade Ltd ([Leading Trade ) &z #
A AR TR 60,918,396 B © Leading Trade
BAOZETEBEITRAHRBCEHEE 8T
BAZATEETRAERL S -

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(a) Long position in the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each (continued)

Notes:

1.

2,900,000 shares in the Company were jointly held by Mr. Lau and Ms.
Chan (the spouse of Mr. Lau).

7,862,388 warrants and 86,788,103 shares in the Company were
beneficially owned by China Capital Holdings Investment Ltd (“China
Capital”). The issued share capital of China Capital is 60% owned by Mr.
Lau, and 40% owned by Ms. Chan.

60,918,396 shares in the Company were beneficially owned by Leading
Trade Ltd (“Leading Trade”). The issued share capital of Leading Trade is
50% owned by Mr. Lau and 50% owned by Ms. Chan.
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BEER

Dominion International Limited 215

BT R EAE S 2 AHER

EFERARRA

Cosmos Wires and Connectors Manufacturing Limited

Westpac Digital Limited

EREXARRAT

Vastpoint Industrial Limited

ANEEERAR
Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

%%~%%i&ﬁﬁi“l§§%ﬁ%$ﬁﬁ
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

(b) Shares of associated corporations of the company

Dominion International Limited, which is 50% owned by Mr. Lau, and
50% owned by Ms. Chan:

FEZERERELZRODEBE
Number of non-voting

deferred shares held

50,000

455,000

1,500,000

In addition, each of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan beneficially owns 140,000 and

10,000 non-voting deferred shares respectively in Cosmotec Precision

Industrial Limited.
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the Directors, chief
executives of the Company or their associates had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required, pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange, or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register kept by the Company, or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in

the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed

during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

A subsidiary of the Group, Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc., had entered into a
rental agreement in respect of office space in Canada on 1 June 2006 with a
company jointly owned by Mr. Lau Tak Wan and Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky for
the period from 1 June 2006 to 31 May 2011. Monthly rental paid for the office
premises is CAD15,332.64.

The above constituted a connected transaction under the Listing Rules. The
Directors are of the opinion that the above transaction was entered into on
normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length basis; was fair and reasonable

so far as the shareholders of the Company, taken as a whole, are concerned.

The above connected transaction constituted an exempted connected

transaction under the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries had entered
into any connected transactions discloseable by the Company under the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 18 August 2005, the Company adopted a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) in compliance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which
replaced the old share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) in force previously.
The Company has not granted any options under the New Scheme and no share
options were outstanding as at 31 March 2011. The New Scheme expired on 17
August 2010.

31 AN EERER A A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Ht
T8>
%ﬁj
Dff
i

Report of the Directors

FTERRNVES

R-B——F=A=+—0 HEEEHA THAL
(ARAREERBFETHABRINRARTZBRS - 18
RRAR 1 oK (54 2 0 6 AR U R 2 TR S A 35 XV BB 56 2
RODBHEXANARAREZ HERAR - RERK
R B I ARV AT BME SR T A S BUE T H AR
B QR ZBRAR L RF 2 EARIRAE B 5%
7S -

RA DB RAD H S

Leading Trade Limited
China Capital Holdings Investment Limited
RIBE R E
Mr. Ng Hung Sang
REBRZT(RBEREZRRB)
Ms. Ng Lai King, Pamela (spouse of
Mr. Ng Hung Sang)

Bat -
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IRANR R 2 s o

B EAEEN RZE——F=A=+—H ' ARFR
EBAERNBBARRD EITRAL% HIA BB CE
N85 N B E G PI5 336 1RR L 2 T 2R A M2 #

5o

EfNEEAERAER QA 32

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011,
parties (other than Directors or chief executives of the Company), had an interest

to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following

or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
which are required to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 and Part XV of the SFO, or, who was, directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other
member of the Group.

Interests in the shares of the Company

HERDER —
EETARER HERITRG
BEERGOEE Interest in HWHEEHD
st Number of underlying shares — % of the total
Note shares held unlisted warrants issued shares
1 60,918,396 — 20.04%
2 86,788,103 7,862,388 31.14%
52,840,198 — 17.38%
52,840,198 — 17.38%

Notes:

1. Leading Trade Limited is 50% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and 50% owned by

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, Leading Trade Limited, Mr. Lau and
Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be interested in 60,918,396, 163,268,882 and
163,268,882 shares of the Company.

2. China Capital Holdings Investment Limited is 60% owned by Mr. LAU Tak Wan and
40% owned by Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky. Accordingly, China Capital Holdings
Investment Limited, Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan were deemed by SFO to be interested
in 86,788,103, 163,268,882 and 163,268,882 shares of the Company respectively.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other
interest representing 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company and
recorded in the register of Substantial Shareholders maintained under Section
336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2011.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float

throughout the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 21.

INDEPENDENCE OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-

The Company has received from each independent non-executive director an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive

directors are independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The written terms of reference which describe the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee were prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for
Effective Audit Committees” published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within the scope of the
group audit. It also reviews the effectiveness of internal audit, internal controls
and risk evaluation. The Committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT, Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan and Dr. LIU
Ngai Wing. Two meetings were held during the current financial year.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2011, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold and redeemed any of the Company’s listed

securities during the year ended 31 March 2011.
AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who

retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
On behalf of the Board
LAU Tak Wan

President

Hong Kong, 30 June 2011
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLERS OF DAIWA ASSOCIATE HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set
out on pages 37 to 142, which comprise the consolidated and company balance
sheets as at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2011 and
of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 June, 2011
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Turnover

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other gains — net

Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses
Operating profit/(loss)

Finance costs — net
Profit/(loss) before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings/(loss) per share for profit/(loss)
attributable to equity holders of the

Company during the year

— Basic

— Diluted

statements.

Note 15.

k3
Note

10

11

14

16

16

For the year ended 31 March 2011

—g—— 2%
2011 2010
FAET FT
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,781,010 1,628,377
(1,626,643) (1,512,405)
154,367 115,972
894 678
5,510 3,575
(27,187) (21,421)
(113,759) (121,136)
19,825 (22,332)
(5,166) (3,619)
14,659 (25,951)
(6,570) (5,410)
8,089 (31,361)
8,194 (31,630)
(105) 269
8,089 (31,361)

HK2.70 cents &1l

(HK10.42 cents 7#lll)

HK2.70 cents &1l

(HK10.42 cents 7#1ll)

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company are set out in
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38

Comprehensive income/(loss):
Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Currency translation differences

Fair value gain on available-for-sale
financial assets, net of tax

Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2011

-2 —Z-%
2011 2010
FHET FHT
HK$°000 HK$'000
8,089 (31,361)
2,123 10,350

82 137

2,205 10,487
10,294 (20,874)
10,399 (21,143)
(105) 269
10,294 (20,874)

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial



Consolidated Balance Sheet

FERBEE Non-current assets
S Goodwill
VI - BN Property, plant and equipment
+ 3 s A A Land use rights
Hib &&= Other intangible assets

B A AR

HFZES B

G

Interest in an associated company
Interest in a jointly controlled entity

EEFTSIREE Deferred income tax assets

AHHESREE Available-for-sale financial assets
REBEE Current assets

FE Inventories

W KRR N IR R

Trade and notes receivables

JE Lt & A R FRIE Amount due from an associated company
FERFIE - ZE Kk Prepayments, deposits and other
H Ath e R IE receivables
ESRIA Derivative financial instruments
ReE KA EEY Cash and cash equivalents
HmEE Total assets
E= Equity
AREREE AEGRAE Capital and reserves attributable to
R#E equity holders of the Company
L& Share capital
AR AR (B Share premium
& Reserves
FEFR R R Non-controlling interests
AR Total equity
R45 BEZE 142 B 2 Mz RE S sk 2 B MH -

statements.

Hiat
Note

17
18
19
20
22

31
23

24
25
39
26

27

32

35

As at 31 March 2011

—E——F —E—ZF —ZEThF
=BA=+—H =A=+—H” MA—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
FETT FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&% (&3

MizE2.1a) fEE2.1a)

(As restated (As restated

Note 2.1a) Note 2.1a)

29,615 28,121 22,704
192,624 190,821 203,355
15,938 16,340 16,741
4,083 710 710

- — 1

1,086 927 172
387 305 168
243,733 237,224 243,851
227,607 235,927 205,304
254,746 208,270 139,632
894 4,382 14,855
36,965 29,472 16,885
- — 235
104,380 166,627 124,556
624,592 644,678 501,467
868,325 881,902 745,318
30,394 30,394 30,364
215,042 215,042 214,950
125,609 115,210 138,782
371,045 360,646 384,096
(26) 354 475
371,019 361,000 384,571

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31 March 2011

—E——F —T-TF —TTNF
=A=+—8H =EER==E mA—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
KiaE FETT FET FET
Note HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(F7 (&F75
FMizE2.1a) MizE2.1a)
(As restated (As restated
Note 2.1a) Note 2.1a)

ErnBEE Non-current liabilities
RIEFRISHEE Deferred income tax liabilities 31 1,885 1,877 3,347
BE Borrowings 28 684 — —
2,569 1,877 3,347

REBEE Current liabilities

BE Borrowings 28 279,423 230,951 195,841
FEAT & AR 1A Trade payables 29 186,095 258,709 138,826
&A% FR I H A FE < 58 Accruals and other payables 30 28,113 27,769 20,083
FERTRE R Tax payable 1,106 1,596 2,616
PTEEmITA Derivative financial instruments - — 34
494,737 519,025 357,400
Bmes Total liabilities 497,306 520,902 360,747
HERREE Total equity and liabilities 868,325 881,902 745,318
REBEETFE Net current assets 129,855 125,653 144,067
EEABERABARS Total assets less current liabilities 373,588 362,877 387,918
R4 BE 142 B2 it BE 5 kR 2 BBEEEB (D © The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.

TEWRENHBRRCHESTEN —_FE——F,xH The financial statement on pages 37 to 142 were approved by the Board of
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Director on 30 June 2011 and were signed on its behalf.

LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
President Vice-president
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Balance Sheet

—F——F=H=+—H As at 31 March 2011
=2 ===
2011 2010
Kz FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
ERENEE Non-current assets
HEBARRKRE Investments in subsidiaries 21 44,715 44,715
FEU Y A RIRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 39 292,910 291,759
337,625 336,474
REEE Current assets
FE AT RRIB K2 E At fE WK IB Prepayment and other receivables 26 134 109
B QEIE 7o Tax recoverable - 30
HekBEeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 27 439 962
573 1,101
wEE Total assets 338,198 337,575
En Equity
AREREEABEREAR Capital and reserves attributable to equity
& holders of the Company
f& 7 Share capital 32 30,394 30,394
A& A S B Share premium 215,042 215,042
i Reserves 35 91,727 91,714
SRR Total equity 337,163 337,150
nEAE Current liabilities
FE A~ 2 PR R EL At FE A< RKIB Accruals and other payables 30 1,015 425
FEA R Tax payable 20 —
1,035 425
wEZRAE Total equity and liabilities 338,198 337,575
hE(BE) BEFE Net current (liabilities)/assets (462) 676
BEERRBER Total assets less current liabilities 337,163 337,150
K45 BE 142 B 2 M RE MM HmER 2 BEE D - The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
statements.

TE14 BN BRREHESZTEN -_Z——4%,58 The financial statement on pages 37 to 142 were approved by the Board of

=TAME URREEFSEE - Director on 30 June 2011 and were signed on its behalf.
282 PR i B LAU Tak Wan CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
FEon =1t President Vice-president
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Cash flows from operating activities

Kt
Note

Cash (used in)/generated from operations 36(a)

Interest paid
Interest received
Hong Kong profits tax paid

China corporate income tax paid

Canadian income tax paid

activities

Cash flows from Investing activities

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Purchases of technical know-how
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares
Purchase of own shares

New bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings

Payment of capital element of finance

lease obligations

36(b)

Dividends paid to a minority shareholder

of a subsidiary
Dividends paid

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April
Effect on foreign exchange

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

statements.

Net cash generated from financing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2011

=2 —Z—=
2011 2010
FET F&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
(86,107) 41,597
(5,239) (4,058)
73 82
(1,437) (3,114)
(2,713) (3,678)
(3,061) (1,863)
(98,484) 28,966
(14,163) (21,047)
(510) —
1,413 118
(13,260) (20,929)
= 130
= (8)
914,275 595,432
(864,893) (559,244)
(226) (1,078)
(275) (390)
= (2,429)
48,881 32,413
(62,863) 40,450
166,627 124,556
616 1,621
104,380 166,627

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial
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At 1 April 2010

Comprehensive income:
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation
differences

Fair value gains on available-
for-sale financial assets

Total other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners:
Dividends

At 31 March 2011

R4 BE 142 A Z M RE I 1BHRER 2 R D -

For the year ended 31 March 2011

NEERTEAEN
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FEEHIM
R
(& BRARE Non- ERAE
Share Share 4] #%  controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Total interests equity
&7 & FET TFE7T FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hiat32) (H7#35)
(Note 32) (Note 35)
30,394 215,042 115,210 360,646 354 361,000
- — 8,194 8,194 (105) 8,089
- — 2,123 2,123 — 2,123
— — 82 82 — 82
- — 2,205 2,205 — 2,205
— — 10,399 10,399 (105) 10,294
- = - = (275) (275)
30,394 215,042 125,609 371,045 (26) 371,019

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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At 1 April 2009

Comprehensive (loss)/income:

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Currency translation
differences

Fair value gains on available-
for-sale financial assets

Total other comprehensive
income

Total comprehensive (loss)/
income

Transactions with owners:
Issue of new shares
Purchase of own shares
Dividends

Total transactions with
owners

At 31 March 2010

NA6EE 142 AZERA HFI SRR 2 gD -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

DEAERFEAER
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
FEHEHIE
Rz

[ &N BRARE Non- RSB
Share Share e #@%  controlling Total
capital premium Reserves Total interests equity
FET FET FET & FET FE7T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(Biat32) (B7#35)

(Note 32) (Note 35)
30,364 214,950 138,782 384,096 475 384,571
— — (31,630) (31,630) 269 (31,361)
— — 10,350 10,350 — 10,350
— — 137 137 — 137
— — 10,487 10,487 — 10,487
= - (21,143) (21,143) 269 (20,874)
33 97 — 130 — 130
(3) (5) - 8) - 8)
— — (2,429) (2,429 (390) (2,819)
30 92 (2,429) (2,307) (390) (2,697)
30,394 215,042 115,210 360,646 354 361,000

The notes on pages 45 to 142 are an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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31 March 2011

GENERAL INFORMATION

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda on 3 February 1994 as an exempted
company under Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12,
Bermuda. The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 14 April 1994.

The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, development, manufacturing and distribution
of electronic components, contract electronic manufacturing services,
consumer electronics, manufacturing of electronic parts and the
distribution of personal computer products. The Group operates mainly
in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Canada.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar (HKS),
unless otherwise stated. These financial statements have been approved
for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 30 June 2011.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of Daiwa Associate
Holdings Limited have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, as modified by its available-for-sale financial assets,
which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Amended standards and interpretations adopted by
the Group

The following amendments to standards and
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the
financial year beginning 1 April 2010.

° HKFRS 83 (revised), “Business Combinations”,
and consequential amendments to HKAS
27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements”, HKAS 28, “Investments in
Associates”, and HKAS 31, “Interests in Joint
Ventures”, are effective prospectively to business
combinations for which the acquisition date is on
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

The revised standard continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations
but with some significant changes compared
with HKFRS 3. For example, all payments to
purchase a business are recorded at fair value at
the acquisition date, with contingent payments
classified as debt subsequently re-measured
through the income statement. There is a choice
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure
the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
All acquisition-related costs are expensed. These
amendments do not have any significant impact
on the Group’s results and financial position,
which is further explained in note 2.2(v) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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(a) EEERWER Z 57T R#2FE (a) Amended standards and interpretations adopted by
(4&) the Group (continued)
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HKAS 17 (amendment), “Leases”, deletes specific
guidance regarding classification of leases of
land, so as to eliminate inconsistency with the
general guidance on lease classification. As a
result, leases of land should be classified as
either finance or operating lease using the general
principles of HKAS 17, i.e. whether the lease
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee.
Prior to the amendment, land interest which title
is not expected to pass to the Group by the end
of the lease term was classified as operating lease
under “Leasehold land and land use rights”, and
amortised over the lease term.

HKAS 17 (amendment) has been applied
retrospectively for annual periods beginning 1
April 2010 in accordance with the effective date
and transitional provisions of the amendment.
The Group has reassessed the classification of
unexpired leasehold land and land use rights as at
1 April 2010 on the basis of information existing
at the inception of those leases, and recognised
the leasehold land in Hong Kong as finance lease
retrospectively. As a result of the reassessment,
the Group has reclassified all leasehold land in
Hong Kong from operating leases to finance
leases, while the land use rights in Mainland China
remain as operating leases.

The land interest of the Group that is held for
own use is accounted for as property, plant and
equipment and is depreciated from the land
interest available for its intended use over the
shorter of the useful live of the asset and the
lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Amended standards and interpretations adopted by
the Group (continued)

° The effect of the adoption of this amendment is
as follows:

R=Z——F RZE-TF RZZZNEF

=HA=+—H =A=+—8H mA—A

31 March 31 March 1 April

2011 2010 2009

FET FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(4,301) (4,436) (4,571)

4,301 4,436 4,571

The adoption of this amendment also resulted in an
increase in depreciation of property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$135,000 and a decrease in
amortisation of leasehold land and land use rights of the
same amount for the year ended 31 March 2010.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Decrease in non-current
borrowings

Increase in current
borrowings

Amended standards and interpretations adopted by
the Group (continued)

o HK' Interpretation 5, “Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause”. On 29 November 2010,
the HKICPA approved HK Interpretation 5 (the
“Interpretation”). The Interpretation requires that
the amounts repayable under a loan agreement
which includes a clause that gives the lender the
unconditional right to call the loan at any time
shall be classified by the borrower as current in
its balance sheet, as the borrower under such an
agreement does not have an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. Similarly, in
the contractual maturity analysis disclosed by the
borrower in accordance with HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”, amounts repayable
under such loan agreement shall be classified
in the earliest time bracket. The Interpretation
is applicable for all financial statements that are
issued after 29 November 2010.

Consequently, the Group has applied the Interpretation
for the year ended 31 March 2011 and has classified
certain bank borrowings where the relevant loan
agreements contain repayment on demand clauses
as current liabilities. The effect of adoption of the
Interpretation is as follows:

R=F——F N =E IS =R

=A=+—8H EHE—E MA—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009

FET T TFET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(53,512) (36,680) (34,053)
53,512 36,680 34,053
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

Amended standards and interpretations adopted by
the Group (continued)

Should these borrowings be classified as non-
current liabilities based on the repayment schedule
(disregarding the repayable on demand clauses in the
loan agreements), the Group would have a net current
assets position of approximately HK$183,367,000
and HK$162,333,000 as at 31 March 2011 and 2010
respectively.

The following amendments and interpretations to existing
standards are also mandatory for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2010:

° HKAS 32 (Amendment), “Classification of Rights
Issues”;

° HKAS 39 (Amendment), “Eligible Hedged ltems”;

. HKFRSs (Amendments), “Improvements to
HKFRSs 2009” (excluding HKAS 17 (Amendment)
“Leases”);

o HKFRS 1 (Revised), “First-time Adoption of Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards”;

. HKFRS 1 (Amendment), “First-time Adoption of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters”;

o HKFRS 2 (Amendment), “Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions”;

° HKFRS 5 (Amendment), “Non-current Assets Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations”; and

° HK (IFRIC) — Int 17, “Distributions of Non-cash
Assets to Owners”.

The adoption of these amendments and interpretations
to standards did not result in a significant impact on the
results and financial position of the Group.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

Standard, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

The following published standard, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April
2011 or later periods and have not been early adopted by
the Group:

o HKAS 12 (Amendment), “Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets”;

° HKAS 24 (Revised), “Related Party Transactions”?;

° HKAS 27 (2011), “Separate Financial
Statements”s;

° HKAS 28 (2011), “Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures”®;

° HKFRS 1 (Amendment), “Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time
Adaptors™;

o HKFRS 1 (Amendment), “First-time Adoption of

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates
for First-time Adopters”s;

o HKFRS 7 (Amendment), “Disclosures — Transfers
of Financial Assets”?;

° HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”s;

o HKFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements”s;

. HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”?;

° HKFRS12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities”?;
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

Standard, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)

. HKFRS 183, “Fair Value Measurements”®;

o HK (IFRIC) — Int 14 (Amendment), “Prepayments
of a Minimum Funding Requirement”?; and

° HK (IFRIC) — Int 19, “Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity Instruments”!.

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2012

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013

The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above
new standard, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards will not result in a significant impact on
the results and financial position of the Group.

In addition, HKICPA also published a number of
amendments for the existing standards under its annual
improvement project issued in May 2010, which are
not yet effective in the current financial year. These
amendments have not been early adopted by the Group
and are not expected to have a significant financial
impact on the results and financial position of the Group.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities, including special purpose
entities, over which the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to
account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment, if any. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes
in consideration arising from contingent consideration
amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend and
receivable.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the income statement.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(i)

(i)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests as transactions with equity owners of the
Group. For purchases from non-controlling interests,
the difference between any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in
equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured
to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(iii)

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights. Investment in an associated company
is accounted for using the equity method of accounting
and is initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment
in an associated company includes goodwill identified on
acquisition, net of accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associated company’s post-
acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associated company
equals or exceeds its interest in the associated company,
including any unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associated company are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associated company. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of the associated company have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(iv)

Jointly controlled entity

A jointly controlled entity is an entity established under a
contractual arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which is subject
to a joint control and none of the participating parties has
unilateral control over the economic activity.

In the consolidated financial statements, investment in
a jointly controlled entity is accounted for by the equity
method of accounting and is initially recognised at
cost. The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses of the jointly controlled entity is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in other comprehensive income
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in the jointly controlled entity
equals or exceeds its interest in the jointly controlled
entity, including any long-term interest that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly
controlled entity, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligation or made
payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its jointly controlled entity are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled
entity. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Accounting policies of the jointly
controlled entity has been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2

2.3

Consolidation (continued)

(v)

Changes in accounting policy

The Group has changed its accounting policy for
transactions with non-controlling interests and the
accounting for loss of control or significant influence
from 1 April 2010 when revised HKAS 27, ‘Consolidated
and separate financial statements’, became effective.
The revision to HKAS 27 contained consequential
amendments to HKAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’,

and HKAS 31, ‘Interests in joint ventures’.

Previously transactions with non-controlling interests were
treated as transactions with parties external to the Group.
Disposals therefore resulted in gains or losses in profit or
loss and purchases resulted in the recognition of goodwill.
On disposal or partial disposal, a proportionate interest in
reserves attributable to the subsidiary was reclassified to
profit or loss or directly to retained earnings.

Previously, when the Group ceased to have control or
significant influence over an entity, the carrying amount
of the investment at the date when control or significant
influence ceases became its cost for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interests as
associates, jointly controlled entity or financial assets.

The Group has applied the new policy prospectively to
transactions occurring on or after 1 April 2010. As a
consequence, no adjustments were necessary to any
of the amounts previously recognised in the financial
statements.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.

The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for

allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating

segments, has been identified as the executive directors that

make strategic decisions.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar
(“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and the
Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates
of the transactions); and

(ifi) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4

2.5

2.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Land use rights

Land use rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Cost mainly
represents consideration paid for the rights to use the land on
which various plants and buildings are situated for a period
ranging from 47 to 69 years from the date the respective rights
were granted. Amortisation of land use rights is calculated on a
straight-line basis over the period of leases.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment other than construction
in progress are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost
includes purchase price of the asset, costs transferred from
construction in progress and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to the working condition and location for its
intended use.

Leasehold land as part of property interest held for own use,
and for which the associated risk and rewards are transferred to
the Group at lease inception are classified as finance leases and
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement during the period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line or reducing balance methods to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

Leasehold land classified as
finance leases

straight-line over the period of
lease

Buildings
Plant and machinery

straight-line 2%
reducing balance 15%

Leasehold improvements,
furniture, fixtures and

reducing balance 10% to 33%

equipment
Motor vehicles
Moulds and tooling

reducing balance 15% to 33%
reducing balance 15% to 50%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment
are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and are recognised in the income statement.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction-in-progress represents factory premises under
construction and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction, interest
charges arising from borrowings used to finance these assets
during the period of construction and other direct costs
attributable to the construction. All other borrowing costs are
expensed. No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed
and ready for the intended use. When the assets concerned are
brought into use, the costs are transferred to other categories of
property, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance
with the policy as stated above.

Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an
acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of
the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiaries
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested annually
for impairment and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the
purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose identified
according to operating segment.

(b) Technical know-how

Technical know-how is shown at historical cost. Technical
know-how has definite useful life and is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
to over their estimated useful lives of 4 years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (continued)

(c) Club debenture

Club debenture represents golf club membership and is
stated at cost less any provision made to the extent that
the directors consider significant impairment has taken
place.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, an associated
company, a jointly controlled entity and non-financial
assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation, and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-
generating units”). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries, associated
company and jointly controlled entity is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries, associated
company or jointly controlled entity in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the
separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into the following

categories: at fair value through profit or loss,

loans and

receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends

on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.

Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is
classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also
categorised as held for trading unless they are designated
as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as
current assets if they are expected to be settled within 12
months; otherwise, they are classified as non-current.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determined payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
reporting date. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Group’s loans and receivables include trade
and notes receivables, amount due from an associated
company, deposits and other receivables and cash and
cash equivalents in the consolidated balance sheet.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not classified
in any of the other categories. They are included in
non-current assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within 12 months at
the end of the reporting period.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets (continued)

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date — the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial
assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially
recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed
in the income statement. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale
financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are
presented in the income statement within ‘other gains — net’ in
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the
income statement as part of other income when the Group’s right
to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary
securities classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or
impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustment recognised in
equity are included in the income statement.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Financial assets (continued)

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement
as part of other income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement as part of
other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair values. The method of recognising the
resulting gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is
designated and qualified as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. Since the derivative financial
instruments entered into by the Group do not qualify for hedge
accounting, changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments
are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred
only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;

o A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

o The Group, for economic or legal reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a
concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;

° It becomes probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

° The disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties; or

o Observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the initial recognition
of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet
be identified with the individual financial assets in the
portfolio, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the portfolio;

(if) national or local economic conditions that
correlate with defaults on the assets in the
portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists. For loans and receivables category, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and
the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement.
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the
Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s
fair value using an observable market price.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12

2.13

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as
an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of
the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in the

income statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale,
a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is also evidence that the assets are impaired. If
any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or
loss — is removed from equity and recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised
in the separate consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the separate consolidated
income statement.

Impairment testing of trade and other receivables is further
described in note 2.14.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined by using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes
borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14

2.15

2.16

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision
for impairment of trade and other receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the assets is reduced
through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. When a receivable
is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited to the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits
held at call with banks.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. Financial liabilities (including
trade and other payables) are initially measured at fair value, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. An equity instrument is any contract that does
not meet the definition of financial liability and evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs, net of
tax, directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is transferred from retained profits
to capital redemption reserve.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17

2.18

2.19

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying
asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required
to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use. All other
borrowing costs are charged to the income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries,
associated company and jointly controlled entity operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authorities.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19

Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither accounting non-taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, associated company and jointly
controlled entity, except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable rights to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities
where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net basis.



B 7% 3R P R

Notes to the Financial Statements

—F——F=H=+—H

2. EESTHREE»

2.20

()

(i)

(iii)

BEEF

RIKLEF

AEESEE TR HAAHERA
BEEZAMNRERTFHIEMNK
wAMEE - ZFFE KRR
BRI SERERE
EXNRAZTNEE - RE
RfFstEEAEEARS - &
WA EREEERBLEREL
HRZBRAREE - WEDSL
EEHEERAHKEE R
ZEERBRAE RS E
Mo NEBIEOETEREEER
EEHE— PR -

RIRGHEIZ BRI 28R
BIRE T  AREYEKRERT
Z AR LA A R ARAR R

TEALaT &

EAKERESSRME 2R
MEARBEAELEERE
MmzAa BN ERER K
16 B M2 FEAL 2 FAFT B #5152
BIREE  HBEER L
ZREEHET _EAARX
£ WA FN 2 SR E -

ESEZEA

BENFERENNEERZR

R-AEBENEEBERE
BLEERENRBE T ZEANEF
REY R R EEL R -

BEREZNRERRERERRKR
AN T HER °

31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Employee benefits

Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans which are available to all relevant
employees. These plans are generally funded through
payments to schemes established by government or
trustee-administered funds. A defined contribution plan is
a pension plan under which the Group pays contributions
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis into a
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefit
relating to employee service in the current and prior
periods.

All contributions to pension plans are fully and
immediately vested and the Group had no unvested
benefits available to reduce its future contributions.

Bonus plan

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made. Liabilities of bonus plan are expected to
be settled within twelve months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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31 March 2011

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.21 Leases (as the lessee)

(i)

(i)

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment that substantially
transfer to the Group all the risks and rewards of
ownership of assets are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the
lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability
and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate
on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in current and non-current liabilities, where appropriate.
The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the
income statement over the lease period so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.
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31 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22

2.23

Revenue and income recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type
of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

(i) Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when a
group entity has delivered products to the customer, the
customer has accepted the products and collectivity of
the related receivables is reasonably assured.

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

(iii) Rental income

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease periods.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where
appropriate.
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3.

31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:

foreign exchange risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, and

cash flow and fair value interest-rate risks. The Group’s overall

risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects

on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly monitors the financial risks of the Group.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for
speculative purposes.

(a)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the Mainland
China and Canada with most of the transactions settled
in United States dollar (“US$”), HK$, Chinese Renminbi
(“RMB”) and Canadian dollar (“CAD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to US$, CAD
and RMB. Since HK$ is pegged to US$, management
are of the opinion that the exchange rate risk exposure
arising from US$ is insignificant.

Management has a policy to require group companies
to manage their foreign exchange risk against their
functional currencies. It mainly includes managing the
exposures arise from sales and purchases made by the
relevant group companies in currencies other than their
own functional currencies. The Group also manages
its foreign exchange risk by performing regular reviews
of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and
would consider the use of foreign exchange contracts to
manage its foreign exchange risks, where appropriate.
As at 31 March 2011,
outstanding foreign exchange contracts.

the Group did not have any
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3.

31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2011, the amount due from an
associated company, certain of the Group’s receivables,
cash and bank balances and trade payables were also
denominated in foreign currencies, details of which have
been disclosed in the respective notes to these financial
statements.

At 31 March 2011, if HK$ had weakened or strengthened
by 5% against RMB, with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year (2010: post-tax loss)
would have been approximately HK$43,000 higher/lower
(2010: HK$160,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB-
denominated financial assets and liabilities.

At 31 March 2011, if CAD had weakened or strengthened
by 5% against US$, with all other variables held constant,
post-tax profit for the year (2010: post-tax loss) would
have been approximately HK$555,000 lower/higher
(2010: HK$524,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses or gains on translation of CAD-
denominated financial assets and liabilities.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk in
respect of investments held by the Group which are
classified as available-for-sale financial assets. As the
available-for-sale financial assets are relatively insignificant
to the Group, management considers that any reasonable
changes in the fair value of the available-for-sale financial
assets would not have a significant financial impact to the
financial statements. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
presented thereon.
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3.

31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of cash at banks, trade and
notes receivables, deposits and other receivables and
amount due from an associated company included in
the consolidated balance sheet represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets.

Substantially all of the Group’s cash at banks are
deposited in major financial institutions located in
Hong Kong, the Mainland China and Canada, which
management believes are of high credit quality.
Management does not expect any losses arising from
non-performance by these counterparties.

The Group also has policies in place to ensure that sale
of products are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers. Normally the Group does
not require collaterals from trade debtors.

Management makes periodic collective assessment as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
trade and other receivables, including amount due from
an associated company, based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period, the financial
strength of the trade and other debtors and whether
there are any disputes with the relevant debtors. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the recorded allowances and
directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made in these financial
statements.
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31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability of
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit
facilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been
for additions of and upgrades on property, plant and
equipment, settlement of borrowings, payment for
trade and other payables and payment for operating
expenses. The Group mainly finances its working capital
requirements through a combination of internal resources
and bank borrowings, as necessary.

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains
sufficient cash and cash equivalents and adequate
amount of committed credit facilities to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and long term.

Taking into account the repayment on demand clauses
on bank borrowings, all of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at 31 March 2011 and 2010 were due for settlement
contractually within 12 months, with their contractual
undiscounted cash flows approximate their respective
carrying amounts.
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31 March 2011

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

=L 4

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities
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st &l

Group

At 31 March 2011
Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

At 31 March 2010
Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables

At 1 April 2009

Borrowings

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Derivative financial instruments

into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including
interest payments computed using contractual rates,
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. For the purpose of maturity analysis, the
maturity date of term loans with a repayment on demand
clause is based on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements, disregarding the repayment
on demand clauses. Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors do not consider that it
is probable that the banks will exercise their discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such term loans will be repaid in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.
—FEWME —FERF
—FR Between Between
Within 1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years
F&T FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
228,836 19,148 36,746
186,095 - —
19,800 - —
196,138 19,757 17,955
258,709 - —
20,189 - —
165,353 35,309 —
138,826 - —
18,102 - —
34 - —
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31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(d)

(e)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2011, 31 March 2010 and 1 April
2009, all the Company’s financial liabilities are due for
settlement contractually within 12 months.

Cash flow and fair value interest-rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for the cash at banks, details of which
are disclosed in note 27. The Group’s exposure to
changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its bank
borrowings, details of which are disclosed in note 28.
Borrowings carried at floating rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk whereas those carried at fixed
rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2011, if the interest rates on borrowings
had been 50 basis points higher/lower, with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would
have been HK$425,000 lower/higher (2010: post-tax loss
would have been HK$330,000 higher/lower), mainly as
a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate
borrowings.
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31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2

Fair value estimation

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, all the resulting fair value
estimates on the available-for-sale financial assets are included in
level 1 according to the fair value measurement hierarchy under
HKFRS 7.

The different levels of fair value measurements are defined as
follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is derived from prices)
(level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date.
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments included in level 1
comprise primarily equity investments classified as available-for-
sale which are publicly traded in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use-of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to measure the fair
value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is included
in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable
market data, the instrument is included in level 3.



B 7% 3R P R

Notes to the Financial Statements

=

3. HXREREREw

3.2

3.3

DPE2GFE)

BREBHARENRER  SEZRPE
MEECHE HERASIAEEE
Y EUCERIRIA M EREE - B
ERRIRIR RIS B H A R YOR - S
RERSHEREECHE  LBREEM
BRIRBRENERREMENFR -
BEHENTFEEERESR -

BEXmEmEE

AEBNESERBOR - ZRIEEE R
BEEE  ARBEREHE RS M
R A AREN G - RRER&EN
BARGEBIAREE SR

AEBEEREARRE  WRBEBERER

VREIELHE - BT HFRAREAR
R AKBE R RSB TRRS
RESHE MRREEEAR  HITHK
HEBGTHRITER °

AEEFNREABBLEXRERAER -
b IR IR E TSR BRER AR B AT E -
BREFEREEE(BEAHEERE
RSB R IE BN A B R R £ R &
LBRSEEY  REARERE (NG
HEERBRMI) REBFE -

3.

31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continueq)

3.2

3.3

Fair value estimation (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current financial assets,
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and notes receivables,
amount due from an associated company and deposits and other
receivable, and the Group’s current financial liabilities including
trade payables and accruals and other payables, approximate
their fair values due to their short maturities.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and make adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payments to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or to obtain new bank
borrowings.

The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net
debt is calculated as total borrowings (including current and non-
current borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet)
less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
“equity”, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet, plus net
debt.

81 aEMEEERER A A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Bt 7% iR R M 5 Notes to the Financial Statements

= e

31 March 2011

3. MBEREBREEx= 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 EXEBEE(E) 3.3  Capital risk management (continued)
R_E——FR_ZT—FTF=A=+— The table below analyses the Group’s capital structure as at 31
H  SEZEREHBOT March 2011 and 2010:

=—F—— =

2011 2010

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

RIEE (H£28) Total borrowings (Note 28) 280,107 230,951

i IRENMIMEEBY(HE27) Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 27) (104,380) (166,627)

BRFER Net debt 175,727 64,324

g Total equity 371,019 361,000

B A Total capital 546,746 425,324

BERBELX Gearing ratio 32% 15%

EEZEABBEXE EAFEZRABEN Increase in the Group’s gearing ratio is mainly due to the

EAREXBERMEEZBRaEEES continuous business development which requires a higher level of

w=Ke working capital.

RZZE——F=A=+—H ' £H7A As at 31 March 2011, the total banking facilities made available

£ 3 18 & # 78 4 /3 435,800,000 % 7T to the Group amounted to approximately HK$435,800,000 (2010:

(ZF—T4 : 349,302,000 7T) * HK$349,302,000), of which approximately HK$346,343,000
H f1346,343,000F To(ZF — T £ - (2010: HK$291,117,000) was utilised by the Group.

291,117,000/ ) B SEE A -
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31 March 2011

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT

Estimates and judgements used in preparing financial statements are

continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

Useful lives, residual values and depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment other than construction-in-progress, with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends to
derive future economic benefits from use of these assets. This
estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will revise the depreciation charge where
useful lives or residual values are different to that of previously
estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives and actual
residual values may differ from estimated residual values. Periodic
review could result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in future periods.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment (Note 17). Other non-financial assets including
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and land use
rights are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations or fair value less costs to sell.
These calculations require the use of judgements and estimates.
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31 March 2011

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset
impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has
occurred that may indicate that the related asset values may not
be recoverable; (i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair
value less costs to sell and net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset
in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these
cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing
impairment, including the discount rate or the growth rate
assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the impairment test and as a result
affect the Group’s financial position and results of operations. If
there is a significant change in the projected performance and
resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take
further impairment charge to the income statement or reverse the
previously recognised impairment charge.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience
of manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer taste
and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet
date.

Impairment of receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision for
impairment of trade and notes receivables, other receivables
and amount due from an associated company based on
an assessment of the recoverability of the receivables. The
assessment is based on the credit history of its customers and
other debtors and the current market condition, and requires the
use of judgements and estimates. Management reassesses the
provision at each balance sheet date.
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5. EXBERoIEHR

Turnover

4.

5.

Sales of goods

31 March 2011

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENT (continued)

(e)

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income
taxes in each of these jurisdictions. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be
utilised. When the expectation is different from the original
estimates, such differences will impact the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and taxation charges in the period in which
such estimates is changed.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

£8
Group
= —2-%
2011 2010
FET TFrET
HK$’000 HK$’000
1,781,010 1,628,377
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—FE——F=H=+—H 31 March 2011
5. EXFEkIBER @ 5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)
D EBE R Segment information
AEBETBREHRT  BR -  AERKHET The Group is principally engaged in the design, development,
Tl AHNBEFEELERE EFHEE manufacturing and distribution of electronic components, contract
MMk EFITERERSEEESER  REAEK electronic manufacturing services, consumer electronics and
EmSIHER - manufacturing of electronic components and parts, and the distribution

of personal computer products.

EHRBEEREAETELEERARARNTE The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the executive

Z (ERIEELERRAL - TELER directors (collectively referred to as the “CODM”) that make strategic

RABBEHNARFRENB AR AIHRSE decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting of the Company and

A EERBWRUESEAENER - BE its subsidiaries in order to assess performance and allocate resources.

[BIMBIE X SRS H & E D2 e HIE © Management has determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

ZEBBRREANNREELEREMAEZRE The CODM considers the business from the perspective of the nature
BHREERE - AIEFr8tEE]  [E1F3F of operations and the type of products, including the “Electronic
XENEERE]  [EFHEHEERNKE T LS Components Distribution”, “Contract Electronic Manufacturing
R Ep A | R A A B EmECsH] Services”, “Consumer Electronics and Electronic Components and Parts

Manufacturing” and “Personal Computer Products Distribution”.

REEKZED Y )%%Ei MEKELN > BN Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic business
RIBEMAEEAEE “*BZF?E’JW*BX% unit that is managed by different business unit leaders. Inter-segment
HEESEEGER Eﬁiﬁi% F— e transactions are entered into under the normal commercial terms and
EBARARARER i&“*ﬂZﬁf%ﬁﬁumfrljiﬁﬁ conditions that would normally be available to unrelated third parties.
[HEEDERRIR - IR FEBLERRAD CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments based on
HhER AR B IRE —BH NGt E o a measure of profit before income tax. Other information provided to
the CODM is measured in a manner consistent with that in the financial

statements.
AN EERLEATRER —EEMNELFRT Assets of reportable segments exclude deferred tax assets, available-
%Rﬁ? AEHEMBEERAINEE(E for-sale financial assets and corporate assets (mainly including certain
%’7%451"&@*&&@%%& SHERAHHE SR corporate properties and equipment and corporate cash and bank
RITHER) - ERHFNEEBETREEHR balances), all of which are managed on a central basis. Liabilities of
BIESHAE  AXNEERESHNERE - reportable segments exclude current and deferred income tax liabilities,
ZEEERBBEREERBBRAFTNEHERIS o corporate borrowings and other corporate liabilities. These are part of the

reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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EXBERDIEER =) 5.

DEWER(E)

ExE Turnover

HEEM Sales of goods

ERS P2 EE Results of reportable segments

ERPWZEERAFE  Areconciliation of results of reportable segments
IR BEHEMT - to profit for the year is as follows:

ERS P2 EE Results of reportable segments

RAWRX Unallocated expenses

REstR Operating results

BENA — FE

BRBUAT R
MERR

REEER

EfpaBas

BRSO

HENE  BERRE
(k&) B

% KRLRENE
BVAERE

TitEREES

FRAE

el RRRRE

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Amortisation of land use rights

Write down of inventories

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

31 March 2011

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

BE-Z--Fz-fA-t-BLEFE

Year ended 31 March 2011

ETHEEMR
EFnHAR
PhEE
ETEEEY Consumer BAZK
EERE Electronics Em&H
BT mEga Contract  and Electronic Personal
Electronic Electronic Components Computer
Components Manufacturing and Parts Products faEg
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
FEr FiET TEr T&n FEr
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
1,117,003 201,777 174,112 288,118 1,781,010
39,210 2,382 (16,643) 5,491 30,440
30,440
(10,615)
19,825
(5,166)
14,659
(6,570)
8,089
1,336 5,713 12,074 29 19,152
(127) - 19 18 (90)
875 2,136 9,596 431 13,038
- - 1,124 - 1,124
- - 402 - 402
2,482 - - - 2,482
603 - 1,249 433 2,285
87 BN EERERARAA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



B 7% ¥R 3R Y R

Notes to the Financial Statements

=F—%=5=7-F

5. EXBERTIER =

DEER(F

SuaE
SUEE
BE

R

AfthESHAE
ERMEHAE
EADEAE

A EERERN
KELE

AHEE
NHAE
BN
BREMEHAR
EADERR

A EERERN
A28

Segment assets
Segment assets
Goodwill

Technical know-how

Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Other unallocated assets

Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet

Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities

Tax payable
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet

aNEEERAERAA
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31 March 2011

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

RZEB-—-£=A=1-H
As at 31 March 2011
ETHEEMR
ET B4R
PHEE
ETSERY Consumer BAZHK
EERE Electronics EmSH
EF et Contract  and Electronic Personal
Electronic Electronic Components Computer
Components Manufacturing and Parts Products fE
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
TEn FEr FiEr T TEn
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
348,722 93,141 174,004 66,127 681,994
- - - 29,615 29,615
- - 3,373 - 3,313
348,722 93,141 177,377 95,742 714,982
387
1,086
151,870
868,325
332,77 66,964 57,587 32,293 489,615
1,106
1,885
4,700
497,306
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Turnover
Sales of goods

Results of reportable segments

31 March 2011

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

A reconciliation of results of reportable segments

to loss for the year is as follows:

Results of reportable segments

Unallocated expenses

Operating results
Finance costs — net

Loss before income tax

Income tax expense

Loss for the year

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure

Loss on disposal of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment,

as restated

Amortisation of land use rights, as restated -
Impairment of property, plant and equipment -

Impairment of inventories
Write down of inventories
Impairment of trade receivables

HE-Z-ZF=A=T-HILFE
Year ended 31 March 2010
ETHEEMR
Efnatk
MEE
BETEEEN Consumer EAEH
R Electronics EmSHE
BT LH Contract and Electronic Personal
Electronic Electronic Components Computer
Components Manufacturing and Parts Products a%E
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
TAT TAT FAT AT TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1,083,193 150,352 132,812 262,020 1,628,377
27,226 (2,871) (42,044) 5,224 (12,465)
(12,465)
(9,867)
(22,332)
(3,619
(25,951)
(5,410)
(31,361)
1,706 9,066 6,753 317 17,842
- - 50 - 50
3,163 2,121 10,653 422 16,365
- 402 - 402
- 14,200 - 14,200
- 7,354 16,251 - 23,605
1,807 - - 421 2,228
161 - - 435 596
89 eNEmEERAER QA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



B 7% ¥R 3R Y R

Notes to the Financial Statements

= e

5. EXBERTIER =

DEER(F

AHEE
NHBE

AfthESHAE
ERMEHAE
EADEAE

A EERERN
KELE

AHEE
NHAE
BN
BREMEHAR
EADERR

A EERERN
Bf4eE

Segment assets
Segment assets
Goodwill

Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets
Other unallocated assets

Total assets per consolidated
balance sheet

Segment liabilities
Segment liabilities

Tax payable
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities per consolidated
balance sheet

aNEEERAERAA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

90

31 March 2011

5. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment information (continued)

RZZ-Z§=A=1-H
As at 31 March 2010

EFHEERR
BTtk
AR
ETEERN Consumer EAZR
H R Electronics EmSH
B maEHE Contract and Electronic Personal
Electronic Electronic Components Computer
Components Manufacturing and Parts Products et
Distribution Services Manufacturing Distribution Total
AT AT TET TET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
401,359 89,985 153,780 58,167 703,291
- - - 28,121 28,121
401,359 89,985 153,780 86,288 731,412
305
927
149,258
881,902
381,915 30,767 42,760 27,847 483,289
1,596
1,877
34,140
520,902
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31 March 2011

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)
Segment information (continued)

The entity is domiciled in Hong Kong. The revenue from external
customers attributable to Hong Kong and other locations are analysed as
follows:

INERE F
Revenue from
external customers

—E—— ==

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$'000

B8 Hong Kong 601,343 961,068
Fp B K e Mainland China 635,741 205,260
B3 North America 333,615 272,306
BOM Europe 179,907 162,542
H b MNE R Other Asian countries 30,404 27,201
1,781,010 1,628,377

R=ZFE——F=ZA=+—8 URBEBZIkER
HEELTE  BREE AIHHEeREERE
AR HEENLERARREHMHRAES
BREENEZ)A10,743,0008 T(ZE—=
% : 10,936,000 7T ) M H A [E (F ZE L F
Bl K hnge K ) B FE 7t 2 & B 4) 4 201,902,000 75
TT(ZZ—Z 4 : 196,935,000/87T) °

At 31 March 2011, the total of non-current assets other than goodwill,
available-for-sale financial assets and deferred income tax assets (there
are no employment benefit assets and rights arising under insurance
contracts) located in Hong Kong is approximately HK$10,743,000
(2010: HK$10,936,000), and the total of these non-current assets
located in other locations (mainly in the Mainland China and Canada) is
approximately HK$201,902,000 (2010: HK$196,935,000).
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He A
Hit

Rental income
Others

FEHASRAZEEZ T /48,0008 L(=F

—Z4F 1 47,000/87T) °

7. Hfttls — FE

HEME - BB KRB KR
(B1E)

PTESM I AR EER

IH ARG E R

R B R
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OTHER INCOME

31 March 2011

—z—— —z-%
2011 2010
FHT FHT
HK$°000 HK$'000
582 355

312 323

894 678

The direct outgoing in respect of the rental income is HK$48,000 (2010:

HK$47,000).
7. OTHER GAINS — NET
=~ —E-%
2011 2010
FETT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 920 (50)
Fair value loss on derivative financial
instruments - (201)
Write-off of interest in a jointly controlled
entity - (1)
Net exchange gains 5,420 3,827
5,510 3,575
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ERER
SHERAR
BHE RAEHF X
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8. EXPENSES BY NATURE

Changes in inventories of trading
merchandise, finished goods and
work-in-progress

Trading merchandise, raw materials and
consumables used

Provision for impairment of inventories

Write-down of inventories

Auditor’s remuneration

Amortisation of land use rights

Depreciation
— owned property, plant and equipment
— property, plant and equipment held

under finance leases

Amortisation of other intangible assets

Provision for impairment of property, plant
and equipment (Note 18)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
(included in general and administrative
expenses)

Employment benefit expenses (including
directors’ emoluments) (Note 9)

Operating lease rental in respect of land and
buildings

Travelling and office expenses

Transportation expenses

Advertising costs

Repairs and maintenance expenses

Other expenses

Representing:
Cost of sales
Selling and distribution expenses
General and administrative expenses

31 March 2011

= s
2011 2010
FET BT
HK$°000 HK$°000
(E51)

(As restated)

29,573 (33,347)
1,507,049 1,449,238
= 23,605

2,482 2,228
2,451 2,447
402 402
12,953 16,365
85 =

1,124 —

= 14,200

2,285 596
130,387 111,916
9,098 7,355
26,080 22,352
7,253 5,103
486 380
4,094 3,599
31,787 28,523
1,767,589 1,654,962
1,626,643 1,512,405
27,187 21,421
113,759 121,136
1,767,589 1,654,962
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31 March 2011

9. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

Employment benefit expenses, including directors’ emoluments, consists

of:
S —F-%
2011 2010
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Wages, salaries and allowances 118,957 100,973
Bonuses 3,340 3,125
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 4,645 4,272
Welfare and benefits 3,445 3,546
130,387 111,916
10. FINANCE COSTS — NET

=~ =
2011 2010
FETT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
Interest income from bank deposits 73 82

Interest expense on bank loans wholly

repayable within five years which contains a

repayment on demand clause (5,228) (4,042)
Interest element of finance leases (11) (16)
Others - 357
(5,239) (3,701)
Finance costs — net (5,166) (3,619)
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—E——#=H=1+—H 31 March 2011
1. RBHAX 11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
RARIEEREARENIE - EEFEH LR The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda. Hong Kong profits
BEBEERBELERIRB BB 2 MR R tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on the
ML 16.56% (ZF—ZTF : 16.5%) 2 B K12 #& estimated assessable profits arising in or derived from Hong Kong.
A o PR BIRK AL K& 38 2 A R AR IR R B 1 3 Companies established and operated in Mainland China are subject to
i3  MER25% (ZF—FF : 25%) ° M PRC corporate income tax at the rate of 25% (2010: 25%). Companies
RINE KKK 282 AR RIRBENE XS established and operated in Canada are subject to Canadian income tax
o BHERIB%(ZZE—ZFF : 35%) ° at the rate of 35% (2010: 35%).
=2 —ZE-F
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B TS ¢ Current taxation
— BEFEH — Hong Kong profits tax 1,198 3,577
— REGEMRSEH — PRC corporate income tax 3,868 2,220
— MERFAEH — Canada income tax 1,655 1,838
RER IR = R A E A R0 Deferred taxation relating to the origination
(Hi£31) and reversal of temporary differences
(Note 31) (151) (2,225)
6,570 5,410
REEFBRBATRF, (BB) 2 FEH - 82K The taxation on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax differs from
REBZHREMGEZRRTE L ZHNAT ¢ the theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax

rate as follows:

=z —E—=

2011 2010

FHET FEr

HK$°000 HK$’000

BB AR R (EE) Profit/(loss) before income tax 14,659 (25,951)
FHIEIZ 16.5% i R=tE Calculated at taxation rate of 16.5%

(ZZ—ZF : 16.5%) (2010: 16.5%) 2,419 (4,282)
TRBEZ 2 Effect of different tax rate 449 (1,715)
BAERBIZWA Income not subject to tax (2,431) (2,598)
I ks ss Expenses not deductible 1,423 4,046
RIERZFIBEKX Tax losses not recognised 4,551 9,162
AT AR MR IHIE R FE A Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax

losses - (64)
MEBHIE Withholding tax 656 227
Eth Others (497) 634
RIS H Taxation charge 6,570 5,410
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(a) EEME
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Name of Director

Executive directors

Mr. LAU Tak Wan

Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky
Mr. WAN Chor Fai

Mr. MAK Hon Kai, Stanly

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT

Dr. LIU Ngai Wing

Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan

ENMBEEERABER QA
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

31 March 2011

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2011 is set out below:

BREHR

Contribution

HeRE8 MERA to retirement
e Salaries and Discretionary benefit fag
Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
TET TET FET TE7 TET
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
- 3,345 - 158 3,503
= 1,142 = 54 1,196
- 1,088 - 43 1,131
= 1,326 820 61 2,207
100 - - - 100
75 - - - 75
50 - - - 50
225 6,901 820 316 8,262




B 7% R R KT 5 Notes to the Financial Statements

—F——F=H=+—H 31 March 2011

12. EERSRITHAEME 2 12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) EEME(E) (a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
R-ZE—ZTF=ZA=+—HBAREEE The remuneration of each of the directors of the Company for the
EZMemT : year ended 31 March 2010 is set out below:

BIREHR
Contribution
He k28 Mg to retirement
ik Salaries and Discretionary benefit k]
ESf Name of Director Fees allowances bonuses scheme Total
FAT FAT FAT FAT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BIEE Executive directors
AGERE Mr. LAU Tak Wan - 3,247 - 162 3,409
BRmE LT Ms. CHAN Yuen Mei, Pinky - 1,111 - 56 1,167
FRELE Mr. WAN Chor Fai - 1,073 - 45 1,118
RERRE Mr. MAK Hon Kali, Stanly - 1,294 550 63 1,907
BiUH{7E%  Independent non-executive directors
WAL Mr. Barry John BUTTIFANT 100 - - - 100
BREET Dr. LIU Ngai Wing 75 - - - 75
BEEEE Mr. CHOI Yuk Fan 50 - - - 50
225 6,725 550 326 7,826
SEERAFEMEREZEEFAMSE No director waived any emoluments during the year (2010: Nil).
(ZZ—ZF: 8) RAFEHMELN No emolument was paid to any directors as inducement to join or
TEESEMMEM SR EERBLU as compensation for loss of office during the year (2010: Nil). No
ZHECCE—TF:8E) EEHE director has been granted or exercised any share option during
RYSiTREMBRECE-TF : the year (2010: Nil).
) -
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(b) AUESHFAL

AEREENLERSHFMALERE
ME(ZE—FF: ORK)EE - HEH
SEER EXDH - Htp—R(ZF—
TE: —R)REHEALTZHES TN

T

ERF K HADER

BYBIEAT

RREKA — E

e 2 AR -

Z — 1,000,000/ 7T

RAFEAR B4
EREMET)  WEEMEABSE
RMEMSHRERLOHECT—

TE:E)o
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31 March 2011

12. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the

Group for the year include four (2010: four) directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The

emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one (2010: one)

individual are as follows:

Basic salaries and allowances
Discretionary bonus

Pension costs — defined contribution plan

= —F%
2011 2010
TET TAET

HK$’000 HK$000

837 748
- 70
12 12

849 830

The emoluments fell within the following band:

Nil — HK$1,000,000

A
Number of individual
=2 —E-F
2011 2010
1 1

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors and other employees) as
inducement to join or as compensation for loss of office (2010:

Nil).
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ZEEREEESAEHAL(BEHE 2/
RIEAL) #16%-8% K - MEBREEEASF
A BKHIRE%-22% ° BRIA EHRIN - £ E
BEBI N ERENRR 2 Yoas Fo&dE - itH
ZEBERKTE B EHRKERRBE R RN
&z -

13.

31 March 2011

PENSION SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group has two defined contribution pension schemes, the retirement
scheme organised under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (“ORSO Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”), for its employees in Hong Kong. The
assets of the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group under independently administered funds.

Under the ORSO Scheme, the Group and each of its employees make
monthly contribution to the scheme of approximately 5% respectively,
of the employees’ salary. The unvested benefits of employees who have
terminated employment are utilised by the Group to reduce its future
contributions. No unvested benefits has been utilised under the scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$49,000). The amount
of unvested benefits as at 31 March 2011 that are available to reduce
the Group’s future contributions was approximately HK$9,000 (2010:
HK$8,000).

Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group and its employees makes
monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s relevant
income, as defined in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance.
Both the Group’s and the employee’s contributions are subjected to a
cap of HK$1,000 per month and contributions thereafter are voluntary.
The contributions are fully and immediately vested in the employees.

Mainland China

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the Mainland China, the
Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its relevant
employees in the Mainland China. The Group’s relevant employees
make monthly contributions to the plans at approximately 5%-8% of the
relevant income (comprising salaries, allowances and bonus), while the
Group makes monthly contributions at approximately 8% to 22% of such
relevant income and has no further obligations for the actual payment of
post-retirement benefits beyond its contributions. The state-sponsored
retirement plans are responsible for the entire post-retirement benefits
payable to retired employees.
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31 March 2011

13. AEEF 8w 13. PENSION SCHEMES (continueq)
JIlE-PN Canada
AEBTELANMEREEREMEZZH< K The Group is required to make monthly contribution to the National
TETEREZNERZERI - mINEXEK Canada Pension Plan (“CPP”) in respect of its employees in Canada
et E(CPP) & AR - fRFEIRES AFMN based on the relevant employees’ salaries, with the exceptions of certain
MEKRRPEZLI5%(ZE—ZTF : 4.95%) excluded employment and benefits, at a rate of 4.95% (2010: 4.95%)
R BEEERREMERSBRABTZR of the employees’ salaries subject to a maximum annual pensionable
370,0003% 7T (8 % R 48,300 M T ) (— E— T earnings of HK$370,000 (equivalent to CAD48,300) (2010: HK$331,000
£ : 331,000 87T (F85E R 46,525 07T ) ) © (equivalent to CAD46,525)).
14, AEIRERZEEEAEMLER (B 14. PROFIT/(LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
B) HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
RNAFERFEE AEERFEARR B M ERE The profit attributable to equity holders of the Company is dealt with in
ABRBRA /13,0008 (=T —ZFF : B the financial statements of the Company to the extent of approximately
£16,000787T) © HK$13,000 (2010: loss of HK$16,000).
15. RE 15. DIVIDENDS
- —=—F
2011 2010
FET FAET
HK$’000 HK$’000
B K 2 R ER AR B B A Interim, paid, of Nil (2010: HK0.3 cent)
ZZ—FTF 0.3 (AEE() per share (note (i) - 911
BOR R B S EAR 1.0 Final, proposed, of HK1.0 cent (2010: Nil)
(ZZ—ZF : &) (K5 (0) per share (note (i) 3,039 =
3,039 911
et - Notes:

0] EERAREBEE-_T—TFAA=THL
ZHERE -

RZEZEANEF+-—A-t+tHBHZzES
b EFEMEETHRESERERKRSE
fill -+ I 2% b B B 48 %R 911,0008 7T © M=
e AL

(ii) R-ZZE——FRNA=THETZEHAL &
ERBRERPRESE B0 -

EETRRREEBE_T—TF=A=1T—
BEEZRPRS -

aEMEEZERERZQAF 100
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(i) No interim dividend was declared by the Company’s directors for the
period ended 30 September 2010.

At a meeting held on 27 November 2009, the Company’s directors
declared an interim dividend of HKO0.3 cents per share, totalling
HK$911,000, which was paid on 8 January 2010.

(if) At a meeting held on 30 June 2011, the Company’s directors proposed a
final dividend of HK1.0 cent per share.

No final dividend was declared by the Company’s directors for the year
ended 31 March 2010.
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16. BRER,(EE) 16.

31 March 2011

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a) AR (a) Basic
BREXGH,(BE)RBEFEARD Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the
AR FFA ABMRET] (B8 )RR profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
AIEBTEERMNETSHEE - weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.
—E—— ==
2011 2010
RARERRTE AENL Profit/(loss) attributable to equity holders of
wH (&) (FET) the Company (HK$’000) 8,194 (31,630)
LR INEFEETHE Weighted average number of ordinary shares
(F) in issue ('000) 303,944 303,643
BREAEH,(EE) Basic earnings/(loss) per share
CENL#42) (HK cents per share) 2.70 (10.42)
(b) BE (b) Diluted
STESRESER (ER) R BY Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the
BETERRZ METHEIELRE - weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
NBREMBERTERREZELH assume conversion of all the Company’s outstanding warrants.
B —_T——FR-_T—FTF=A Dilutive earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 March
=+—BEEHM  RIERREZA 2011 and 2010 equal basic earnings/(loss) per share as the
ERESER BUHSRESRR exercise of the outstanding warrants would be anti-dilutive.
(B18) BEREANEF,(EBR)ER -
17. BE 17. GOODWILL
—5—— —ZE—F
2011 2010
FET FEr
HK$’000 HK$’000
B Cost
347 Beginning of the year 28,277 22,860
EHZEHR Exchange differences 1,494 5,417
R End of the year 29,771 28,277
ZERE Accumulated impairment losses
RUA—BEK=A=+—H As at 1 April and 31 March (156) (156)
BREFE Net book amount 29,615 28,121
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ERBEFENEZEERRNT

EF%
ETE
kS

Gross margin
Growth rate
Discount rate
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31 March 2011

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified
according to operating segment. As at 31 March 2010 and 2011, all the
goodwill is allocated to the “Distribution of personal computers products”
segment in Canada.

For the purposes of impairment reviews, the recoverable amount of
goodwill is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management for the purposes of impairment reviews
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated according to a zero-growth assumption.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows:

g REHE
Canada
operations
—F——
2011

9.3%

2% to 12%

10.5%

——

The budgeted gross margins were determined by management based

on past performance and its expectation for market development. The

growth rates used are largely consistent and do not exceed the industry

growth forecast. The annual discount rates are before tax and reflect

market assessments of the time value and the specific risks relating

to the relevant segment. Management has considered the above

assumptions and valuation and has also taken into account the business

expansion plan going forward. Management believes that any reasonably

foreseeable change in any of the above key assumptions would not

cause the carrying amount of goodwill to exceed the recoverable amount.

Judgment is required to determine key assumptions adopted in the cash

flow projections and the changes to key assumptions can significantly
affect these cash flow projections.



B 7% 3R P R

Notes to the Financial Statements

=

18. % - HBERRHE

£H

RZZZNFMA-A At 1 April 2009

A AR Cost, as previously reported

FEESEINT(BR)  Effect of adoption of HKAS
LE2 17 (Amendment)

AA - &5 Cost, s restated

ZEHAERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment
FEESEANT(BR)  Effect of adoption of HKAS
152 17 (Amendment)

ZATEREE 25 Accumulated depreciation and
impairment, as restated

REFE - 25 Net book amount,
as restated

ZE-8E-f=1-H Year ended 31 March 2010

:3:5

BNEMFE  WARSE  Opening net book amount,
as previously reported

RMEESEANT (I5%)  Effect of adoption of HKAS

152 17 (Amendment)

BOREE - 55 Opening net book amoun,
as restated

EAEE Exchange differences

nE Additions

if5 Disposals

& - & Depreciation, s restated

BEME) Impairment (note)

BRREE - 55 Closing net book amount,
as restated

31 March 2011

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

28 BR-

RERRE

Leasehold

BE  improvements,

1HREF REREES furniture, BARIA EEIR
Land and Plant and fixtures and RE Moulds and Construction- @it
buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
122,622 142,479 44,955 6,095 21,036 - 387,187
5774 - - - - - 5174
128,396 142,479 44,955 6,095 21,036 - 342,961
(14,945) (84,941) (24,320) (4,582) (9,615) - (138,403)
(1,203 - - - - - (1,203
(16,148) (84,941) (24,320) (4,582) (9,615) - (139,606)
112,248 57,538 20,635 1,513 11,421 - 203,365
107,677 57,538 20,635 1,513 11,421 - 198,784
457 - - - - - 457
112,248 57,538 20,635 1,513 11,421 - 203,365
170 (151) 217 121 - - 367
- 746 3,030 613 1,856 11,597 17,842
- (45) (128) - - - (168)
(2,689) (8,592) (2,507) (29) (2,281) - (16,365)
- (7,642) (1,839 - 4,719 - (14,200)
109,729 41,854 19413 1,951 6,277 11,597 190,821
103 AENMEEERAERRA A
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18. W% - HB|ERRE =)

SE(%E)

RZE-Z£MA-A At 1 April 2010

A AR Cost, as previously reported

RhEweEaT Effect of adoption of HKAS
(Bw)z52 17 (Amendment)

A - E5l Cost, as restated

ZEERRE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment

RhEweEaT Effect of adoption of HKAS

(Bw)z&2 17 (Amendment)

ZiTEREE 2 Accumulated depreciation and
impairment, as restated

REFE 25l Net book amount,
as restated

EMEEZERERQA 104
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31 March 2011

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
Group (continued)
26 B
RERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
THRET RERHE furniture, BARIE EEIR
Land and Plant and fixtures and RE Moulds and Construction- it
buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK8'000
122,792 142,848 47,997 6,829 22,892 11,697 364,955
5774 - - - - - 5174
128,566 142,848 47,997 6,829 22,892 11,697 360,729
(17,499) (100,994) (28,584) (4,878 (16,615) - (168,570)
(1,338) - - - - - (1,338)
(18,837) (100,994) (28,584) (4,878 (16,615) - (169,908)
109,729 41,854 19,413 1,961 6,277 11,697 190,821
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—F——F=H=+—H 31 March 2011
18. Y% - ERRE = 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
S8 (Z Group (continued)
5 fil
RERRE
Leasehold
BE  improvements,
1HEEP REREES furniture, BERIE HRIR
Land and Plant and fixtures and RE Moulds and Construction- @it
buildings machinery equipment  Motor vehicles tooling in-progress Total
AT AT AT AT AT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK8'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000

ZE-—-F=A=1-ALLFE Year ended 31 March 2011
BNEEFE WARSE  Opening net book amount,

as previously reported 105,293 41,854 19,413 1,951 6,277 11,597 186,385
RMEESEANT (I5%)  Effect of adoption of HKAS
V4 /- 17 (Amendment) 4,436 - - - - - 4,436
BOREE - 55 Opening net book amoun,
as restated 109,729 41,854 19,413 1,951 6,277 11,597 190,821
EAEE Exchange differences 125 1,135 43 58 148 - 1,509
HE Additions - 1,054 1,749 1,404 938 9,510 14,655
3 Disposals - (986) (97) (240) - - (1,323)
i Depreciation (2,677) (6,621) (2,455) (403) (882) - (13,038)
BRREFE Closing net book amount 107,177 36,436 18,653 2770 6,481 21,107 192,624

RZE--F=A=1-RA  At31 March 2011

A Cost 128,698 135,673 49,860 6,32 23,979 2,107 366,249
ZEHERAE Accumulated depreciation

and impairment (21,521) (99,237) (31,207) (4,162) (17,498) - (173,625)
REAE Net book amount 107,177 36,436 18,653 2,710 6,481 21,107 192,624

105 eNEmEERAER QA
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31 March 2011

18. ¥ - KBRRE 18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

T REFREFESTAT

(continued)

Net book value of the land and buildings is analysed as follows:

£E
Group
=F—— —=—F —ZZh
=H=+-H =A=+—8 MA—H
31 March 2011 31 March 2010 1 April 2009
FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(575 — (87 —
FizE2.1a) MizE2.1a)
(As restated (As restated
note 2.1a) note 2.1a)
MR EREZ i RIETF - Land and buildings in Hong Kong held on:
10-50 F 2 A 2 1EF Leases of between 10 to 50 years 7,687 7,911 8,156
LN BB AN R 2 8T Buildings outside Hong Kong held on:
10-50 F 2 F %) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 98,653 100,922 103,137
50F LA £ 2 H) Leases of over 50 years 837 896 955
107,177 109,729 112,248

FER X HB4,379,0008 T (B —F £ :
7,511,000 7T ) £ 88 & AKX 7~ &2 BR & 8,659,000
BIT(ZF — T4 : 8,854,0008 7T ) — KK
THAXZEE °

RZB——F=A=+—H uUREEZHEE
T3 R = N F 2 REHAAEL -

et -

REFE  BREERBEREZ £EGITHHERE
ZHEBFEES  SEESYUHAEUEEREDT
—REEBETTE o HIt - —%4914,200,000 2 R IEE K
REFEZEHFBRPAR - EBHEERKES
THEEMMETTRMEERER - EZNHERE
EERFEBERLTHMSEEIREEAFE -

EMEEZERERARQA 106
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Depreciation expense of HK$4,379,000 (2010: HK$7,511,000) has been
charged in the cost of sales and HK$8,659,000 (2010: HK$8,854,000)
has been included in general and administrative expenses.

As at 31 March 2011, the remaining period of unexpired leases of
leasehold land in Hong Kong is 36 years.

Note:

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the directors conducted a review of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment, having regard to its plan to scale
down certain low profit margin product lines and the consolidation of certain of
the Group’s manufacturing operations. These assets are used in the consumer
electronics and electronic components manufacturing segment. Consequently,
impairment losses of approximately HK$14,200,000 had been identified and
recognised in the consolidated income statement. The recoverable amounts of
the relevant assets had been determined on the basis of their fair value less costs
to sales. The directors determined the recoverable amounts of these assets with
reference to the market values of similar assets on a scrap sales basis.
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19. T HbfERARE

SENEET MR tMERERRNEERE

5% BREFES AT

R-B—ZSFmA—H
—ZEZhFWA—H

A - AT 23R

RMERRIEANT (BBOZHE

A - &5

ZEPRME - WREI2

RNEBREERN7 (BR) 2 HE

R - =7

BREFE - F75

HAWIAR T S{E - AT 2 1R

HMBEBSTENT (B 2 &

YRR FE - EF

PE R
BiH B 57

HRAREFE - E7
R=A=+—~H

KA RA - B
Rt Rt - ED

FREVFE,BREFE - Z5

19. LAND USE RIGHTS

31 March 2011

The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating

lease payments and their net book amounts are analysed as follows:

At 1 April 2010/1 April 2009

Cost, as previously reported
Effect of adoption of HKAS 17 (Amendment)

Cost, as restated

Accumulated depreciation, as previously
reported

Effect of adoption of HKAS 17 (Amendment)

Accumulated depreciation, as restated

Net book amount, as restated

Opening net book amount, as previously
reported

Effect of adoption of HKAS 17 (Amendment)

Opening net book amount, as restated

Exchange differences
Amortisation/Amortisation, as restated

Closing net book amount, as restated

At 31 March

Cost/Cost, as restated

Accumulated amortisation/Accumulated
amortisation, as restated

Net book amount/Net book amount,
as restated

Group

-2 —Z-%
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
31,474 31,474
(5,774) (5,774)
25,700 25,700
(10,698) (10,162)
1,338 1,203
(9,360) (8,959)
16,340 16,741
20,776 21,312
(4,436) (4,571)
16,340 16,741
- 1
(402) (402)
15,938 16,340
25,700 25,700
(9,762) (9,360)
15,938 16,340

107 aEMEEERER A A
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19. T iHfERAE )

31 March 2011

19. LAND USE RIGHTS (continued)

HEDH - Geographical analysis:
-2 — = —TTh
=HI=EE—F —A=+—8 MA—H
31 March 2011 31 March 2010 1 April 2009
FHET FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(&%) — (87 —
BizE2.1a) HizE2.1a)
(As restated (As restated
note 2.1a) note 2.1a)

R BB AIMEE Outside Hong Kong, held on:

10-50F 2 %) Leases of between 10 to 50 years 15,750 16,149 16,546
50F A EZ A Leases of over 50 years 188 191 195
15,938 16,340 16,741

BNEERNFTRRHD BRE—RRITRE
-

RZE——F=A=+—H R FREHANL
HE A2 N FRB81 EL4F o

EMEEZERERAQA 108
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Amortisation of prepaid operating lease payments has been included in
general and administrative expenses.

As at 31 March 2011, the remaining period of unexpired land use rights
range from 31 to 54 years.
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20.

31 March 2011

Htt B &EE 20. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
EEFM BfES
Technical Club et
know-how debentures Total
FET FET FAEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R=-ZBZAFNE—H - At 1 April 2009, 31 March and
—E-FFE=A=+—H 1 April 2010
kMWA—H
PR Cost - 1,050 1,050
R E RRE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment - (340) (340)
BREVFE Net book amount - 710 710

—E2——H=A=+—H%E Year ended 31 March 2011

BRI RREDFHE Opening net book amount - 710 710
NE Additions 4,497 — 4,497
BH Amortisation (1,124) - (1,124)
BREFE Net book amount 3,373 710 4,083
R=-ZB——F=H=+—H At 31 March 2011
(D% Cost 4,497 1,050 5,547
ZETEE RRE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment (1,124) (340) (1,464)
BREFE Net book amount 3,373 710 4,083
Hia# Note:
EARFE  EESIAEERMEARAREFHEE The Group acquired a technical know-how related to the “Consumer electronics

mmAEERREF Lttt R EERT

and electronic components and parts manufacturing” segment during the year.

109
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21. HERARANRE 21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
AT
Company
—E—— —z—z
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
LT - KRB Unlisted shares, at cost 44,715 44,715
Apalz EERBARIERAT : Particulars of significant subsidiaries are as follows:
R/ R s RER AL
Place of TEEERY BRTRARRE Percentage
AR incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEERER TEER
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities
ERHRE -
Interests held directly —
Daiwa BVI Limited ABRLES ABRLES 10,0007 100% EREEAA RERR
British Virgin Islands British Virgin Islands 1S$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
BEsaRE -
Interests held indirectly —
HEETERAA ABRAEE e VE 100% EREEAA nIgE
Chiasso Inc. British Virgin Islands Mainland China US§2 Limited liability company Sub-contract manufacturing
ANBEERAR ABRAEE &k E 100% AREFAF RAER
Daiwa Associate Ltd British Virgin Islands Hong Kong Us$2 Limited liability company Investment holdings
ANETERERARAT EBRLES & 1800%7 100% AREFLT RABR
Daiwa Distrioution Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1,800 Limited liability company Investment holdings
Elite Century Holdings Ltd. EERIES & 10,000% 7 100% AREFAR RERR
British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
BESEARAA B & 10,0007 100% BREEAF RABR
Cosmos Power Holdings Ltd Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 Limited liability company Investment holdings
MRETIEERAA & & 28T 100% BREEAF HESTHEED
Cypress Electronics Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 Limited liabiity company Manufacture of consumer
electronics
AN RERFERRAT &k &k 1,000,000 %7 100% BREEAA BEREHERER
Daiwa Acoustic Products Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Limited liability company Manufacturing and trading of
Manufacturing Limited acoustic products

EMEEZEERER2QAF 110
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21.

HHMBARNRE®

Ad

Company

BEEARE -(5)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

ENEE(FE)ARAR

Daiwa Associate (Ching) Limited

ENAZARAT

Daiwa Associate (H.K.) Limited

ANEFERAT
Daiwa Distribution Limited

ANAEERAA
Daiwa Digital Limited

ANERERAT
Daiwa Electronic Ltd.

ANT#ERAA

Daiwa Industrial Limited

ANBEERAR
Daiwa Manufacturing Limited

HRAY/ RS
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Bk
Hong Kong

30
Hong Kong

A
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

{3
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

21.

TERERY
Principal place
of operation

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

3
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

30
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

s RER AL

BRTRARRE Percentage
Issued and fully of equity
paid up share capital interest held
28T 100%
HKS2
LER100AT 100%
Ordinary shares

HK$100
ERFRERRD

3,000,000/#7C

i)
Non-voting

deferred shares

HK$3,000,000

(note (i)
5,000,007 100%
HK$5,000,000
10,0007 65%
HK$10,000
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
5,007 100%
HK$5,000
4BT 100%
HK$4

EERREH
Type of legal entity

AREFAR
Limited fiability company

BRELAR
Limited liability company

EREFAT

Limited fiability company

BREfAF
Limited liability company

BRREAR
Limited liability company

ERELAR
Limited fiability company

EREEAR
Limited fiability company

31 March 2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

TERH

Principal activities

HARNE
Property holdings

ERRIBEE
Management and
administrative service

EF ALY
Distribution of electronic
components

BRIt
Distribution of electronic
components

RABR
Investment holdings

RARR
Investment holdings

Y TnalRkalizT
EXrERK

Manufacture of electronic
components and
manufacturing services
of electronic products

1M1 AN EERERAR2A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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21.

HHBATRNRE®

AF
Company

BEEARE -(5)

Interests held indirectly —

AN2NERAR
Daiwa Maxiworld Limited

ANREIZERAR

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd.

ANERARAA

Daiwa Resources Limited

aNERARAA

Daiwa System Limited

£HES (BR)BRAA

Daiwa Trading (Guangdong) Ltd.

Imtec Components Ltd.
ERSFARAT

Unity Electrical Industrial Ltd.

EEREETARAR

Vastpoint Imtec Electronics Ltd.

IRaNEREFRITARAR
Beijing Daiwa Vastpoint Electronics
Technology Ltd.

HEET (TR)ARAR

China Faith Electronics (Heyuan) Ltd.

(continued)

aENMEEERAERA A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited
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B3 EAVE WE L]
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

&
Hong Kong

3
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

&%
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

(30
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

5

Hong Kong

il
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

21.

B
Principal place
of operation

&k
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

30
Hong Kong

&
Hong Kong

30

Hong Kong

il
Mainland China

]
Mainland China

31 March 2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

i RER AL

BRTRARRE Percentage
Issued and fully of equity
paid up share capital interest held
10087 100%
HKS$100
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
500057 100%
HK$5,000
4%T 100%
HK$4
4%T 100%
HK$4
10,0007 100%
HK$10,000
2,000,007 100%
HK$2,000,000
10047 100%
HK$100
AMREAER 100%

800,000 ARH
Registered and

paid up capital

RMB800,000
RGeS 100%

1,00,000%7C
Registered and

paid up capital

US$1,200,000

EERREH
Type of legal entity

BRREAA
Limited liability company

ERAEAT
Limited liability company

ERAFAT

Limited liability company

EREFAR

Limited fiability company

EREFAT

Limited fiability company

BREFAR
Limited liability company

BRRAAT

Limited liability company

BRERAT

Limited liability company

L ERAAA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HEzERALAA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

TERH

Principal activities

EFmEAEH
Distribution of electronic
components

ke

Procurement of materials

RESR

Investment holdings

EhnalEs
Trading of computer
components

RARR

Investment holdings

RABR
Investment holdings

HEREHERER

Manufacture of electric wire

ERdiz
Distribution of electronic
components

EF AL
Distribution of electronic
components

HESTHEER
Manufacture of consumer
electronics
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—FE——F=H=1+—H 31 March 2011
21. HELARNKRE @ 21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
HRAY/ ALY fREADL
Place of IERENY ERTRARRA Percentage
A incorporation/ Principal place Issued and fully ofequity EEEEER IEER
Company establishment of operation paid up share capital interest held ~ Type of legal entity Principal activities

HEEARE -(F)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

RREFETARAR Gl i AMERARE 100% SNERERRAR STEREERE
Dongguan Cosmos Electronics Ltd. Mainland China Mainland China 36,420,00070 Wholly foreign-owned Contract electronic
BAEAARE enterprise manufacture service
31,599,590
Registered capital
RMB36,420,000
Paid up capital
RMB31,599,590
AfizEs (HR)ARAR hE GilEd RG-S 100% SNE2ERAERR B et
Daiwa Component (Shanghal) Ltd. Mainland China Mainland China 20000057 Wholly foreign-owned Distribution of electronic
Registered and enterprise components
paid up capital
1S$200,000
afzEl (RERAR b hE R RESER 100% SME2ERAERR B et
Daiwa Gomponent (Shenzhen) Ltd. Mainland China Mainland China 2,000,000%7 Wholly foreign-owned Distribution of electronic
Registered and enterprise components
paid up capital
HK$2,000,000
AMET (TR)ARAR Gilé] e HRREHER 100% SE2ERAAR ANETEREERBR
Daiwa Electronics (Heyuan) Co. Ltd. Mainland China Mainland China 3,600,000%7 Wholly foreign-owned HESTHEER
Registered and enterprise Contract electronic
paid up capital manufacture service
US$3,600,000 and manufacture of
consumer electronics
ol (2E)EFIEERAR il i AR REAER 100% SERERRAR HEEalt
Daiwa (Zhaoqmg) Electronics Industrial ~ Mainland China Mainland China 3,384,000% 7 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electronic
Limited Registered and enterprise components
paid up capital
US$3,384,000
FEETERARAR GilET i AR T1,712,000%7 100% SNE2ERARR HEBFal
Dongguan Wafer Semi-Conductor Mainland China Mainland China BAIE%61,168,543 Wholly foreign-owned Manufacture of electronic
Co., Ld. BT enterprise components
Registered capital
HK$71,712,000
Paid up capital

HKS61,168,543

13 ANBEBEERERARQA

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



B 7% ¥R 3R Y R

Notes to the Financial Statements

= e

21.

HHBATRNRE®

Ad

Company

BEEARE -(5)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

RENEFRE(RINERAR
Maxi World Technology (Shenzhen)
Limited

anE% (TF)BRAR
Unity Industrial (Heyuan) Ltd.

ERBREET(RIERAA
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics (Shenzhen)
Ltd.

RESTEH(L8)BRAA
Vastpoint Imtec Electronics (Shanghal)
Ltd.

Alden Concept Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Alberta) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (B.C.) Inc.

Daiwa Distribution (Nova Scotia) Inc.

EMEEERERQA 114
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B3 EAVE WE L]
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

il
Mainland China

Gl
Mainland China

lEd
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

IEVNONE]

Ontario, Canada

MeAS{ES
Alberta, Canada

MEREBFHaLLE
British Columbia, Canada

NEAKEHAZE

Nova Scotia, Ganada

21.

B
Principal place
of operation

il
Mainland China

il
Mainland China

o
Mainland China

hE
Mainland China

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

Canada

JIEYN

Canada

JIEVN

Canada

BETRARRE
Issued and fully
paid up share capital

RGeS
300,000%7T

Registered and paid up
capital US$300,000

RINGE e
2,050,000/ T

Registered and paid up
capital US$2,050,000

RRNGE e
2,000,007

Registered and paid up
capital HK$2,000,000

RaGE e
300,000%7T

Registered and paid up
capital US$300,000

117
CAD1

12017
CAD120

300,000 7T
CAD300,000

10017
CAD100

FERERS T
Percentage
of equity
interest held

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

EERREH
Type of legal entity

T ERAAA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HEzERARA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

HETERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

NETERALA
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

BREAAT

Limited liability company

BREELT

Limited liability company

EREFAT

Limited fiability company

ERELAR
Limited fiability company

31 March 2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

TERH

Principal activities

EFTEALH
Distribution of electronic
components

RERBER

Manufacture of electric wire

R 1z
Distribution of electronic
components

EF Ak
Distribution of electronic
components

HERHHEMERR
EFEM

Sales and distrioution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERDHBREMR
25

Sales and distrioution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERSHERERR
EfEm

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods

HERDHEREDR
EfEm

Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods
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21.

HHMBARNRE®

Ad

Company

HRAY/ ALY
Place of
incorporation/
establishment

HEEARE -(F)

Interests held indirectly — (continued)

Daiwa Distribution (Ontario) Inc.

Daiwa Holdings Inc.

Daiwa Precision Industrial Ltd.

Westpac Holdings Inc.

Westpac Technology Inc.

(ii)

)

JEYNIN
Ontario, Canada

MEAZARE
Ontario, Canada

JIEVNON:E]

Ontario, Canada

JEYINE
Ontario, Canada

MEAZARE
Ontario, Canada

EXRMIARBZMBAR - DARRES
BERAEEEEERREAEBARFEXE
FEZER  AFEAEEKRFHEEZW
BRTE  EESEMHBARNZER &%

BEREREERMDEARERRAEBHER
BEFENE  BIEFERARBRREENEAR
100,000,000,000,000 7T °

BE_T——F=A=+—-HILFEXHNE
ARPEEADETZIEEER

21.

TERERY
Principal place
of operation

nex
Canada

nex
Canada

JIEIN

Canada

JIEIN

(Canada

JIEIN

Canada

31 March 2011

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

Notes:

(i)

(iii

fREADL
ERTRARRA Percentage
Issued and fully of equity EEERER ITER
paid up share capital interest held  Type of legal entity Principal activities
700,007 100% EREEAHA HERAHERERR
CAD700,000 Limited liability company ETER
Sales and distribution of
computer goods and
electronic goods
2230157 100% BREFAH RERR
CAD223,015 Limited liability company Investment holdings
1T 100% AEREEAA RARR
CAD1 Limited liability company Investment holdings
1107 100% BREEAA REmE
CAD1 Limited liability company Property holdings
1T 100% AREFLT REER
CAD1 Limited liability company Investment holdings

The above list includes the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Company’s directors and the Group’s management,
principally contributed the results or formed a substantial portion of the net

assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would result in
particulars of excessive length.

The non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, and are
not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a sum of
HK$100,000,000,000,000 has been distributed to the holders of ordinary
shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during
the year ended 31 March 2011.
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22. BMELQTERS

M BRI R E 2B E RRIMFBNT

FREFE

=L

Name

AMZTERA
Daiwa Sound Company Limited
(“DSC”)

aMEEERAERARA 116
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31 March 2011

22. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY

Details of the associated company, which is a limited liability company

established and operating in Japan, are as follows:

Net book amount

ERITRBREER
Issued and

fully paid

up capital

23,400,000 H
YEN23,400,000

RAERES
BoLEER
Percentage
of equity
interest held

47%

£5

Group
=2 =ZZ
2011 2010
FET TFET
HK$°000 HK$’000

FEER
Principal activity

& & B B AR MR B T B0 SR T AR 1
Trading and manufacturing of speaker
elements and components
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—FE——F=H=1+—H 31 March 2011
23. MHtHELREE 23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
£8
Group
—E—-— ==
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
HA ) Beginning of the year 305 168
ISR EE A Net gains transferred to equity 82 137
HiR End of the year 387 305
AEHESREERE Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:
&5
Group
—=E-Z —ZE—F
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
LEWESH: Listed securities:
RiEZES — BF Equity securities — Hong Kong,
LA T R E AL denominated in Hong Kong dollar 387 305
LWEHEMISER Market value of listed securities 387 305

"7 eNEmEERAER QA
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24, FE

AmFE
JR#
R
SUPK R

FE — #B5E
FEREEE

FE — FE

HsE

31 March 2011

24. INVENTORIES

Trading merchandise
Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Inventories — gross
Provision for impairment

Inventories — net

Note:

0] EFERAARERRBIEENER ZHERK 0]
AR 49 41,536,622,0008 (=T —T4F ¢

1,415,891,000787T) °

(ii) E1E R E 52,482,000 T(ZE—ZT & : (ii)
2,228,000/ 7T) * EBERFIERZHEK

e o

(iii) FEREBEZESHOT -

REA—H
FRBERE
RER

R=A=+—H

EMEEZERERAQA 118
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(ii)

%£HE

Group
=g 2z
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
110,325 132,595
90,426 92,066
23,251 25,455
6,129 11,228
230,131 261,344
(2,524) (25,417)
227,607 235,927

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in
cost of sales in the income statement amounted to approximately

HK$1,536,622,000 (2010: HK$1,415,891,000).

Write-down of inventories during the year amounting to HK$2,482,000
(2010: HK$2,228,000) has been included in cost of sales in the income

statement.

Movement on the provision for inventories is as follows:

-3

Group
—F— —F2—F
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
At 1 April 25,417 1,812
Provision for inventory impairment - 23,605
Written off of provision in current year (22,893) —
At 31 March 2,524 25,417
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25. BREXRKREREWRRE

FE Uk & SE AR TR Trade receivables
JB R EIRIBRE XM Less: provision for impairment
FE IR ZE R Notes receivable
Hist -
(a) AEBEZEREEREZIREEN TG
BB
7T HK$
ARHE RMB
e Uss$
meXsT CAD

fEd S R EERE AFERE

W ERRT EETNERERR - AAK
SEERZEP -

31 March 2011

TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

Group

—%-—— —F-T
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
221,427 196,701
(2,447) (1,467)
218,980 195,234
35,766 13,036
254,746 208,270

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are denominated in
the following currencies:

-]
Group

—F—— —z—=
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000
57,685 57,899
80,078 53,905
60,063 63,459
23,601 21,438
221,427 196,701

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade receivables as
there are a large number of widely dispersed customers.

119 aEMEEERER A A
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31 March 2011

25. BWEXEEBRERERE 2 25. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Hiit - (%) Note: (continued)

(b) NEBZ ABHIHEBRERS  EH—# (b) Majority of the Group’s sales are made on open account, with credit terms
H=t+XZEA+K - BN ALEETREY ERD generally ranging from 30 days to 90 days. The ageing analysis of trade

WO - receivables is as follows:

£5
Group

-z —Z=2—=
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
DRNTR Less than 60 days 156,768 140,484
ATXRE—EBZ=+X 60 days to 120 days 43,017 45,144
BRA-—BE=tXK Over 120 days 21,642 11,073
221,427 196,701

R=ZZT——F=A=+—H 60,291,000 7
T2 WA RERE(ZT—T4 : 65,716,000
FSIT) B @B I WA o WWEFIEH K&
SESOREHRERCENB LIRS - KE
B S RBGKHREDTAT ¢

DRANTR Less than 60 days
ATXRE—EB=+X 60 days to 120 days
BE—B"=-TX Over 120 days

TSR EN R EEXRRNEEEE
TEBSERMETFAERLEMBEERN
HEITRHE - BEHFHBELBERCHE o

R=EZE——F=A=+—H BREEXRKRRE
2,447,000 (= T — & £ : 1,467,000)
KERE - R_T——F=A=+—8"
B4 % A2,447,0008 T(ZF — T F ¢
1,467,000 7T ) © & 51 B 89 FE UK & 2 3R
BERBERUIIMEERRHOES - LEFE
IR BRER AT ¢

BA—B=-TX Over 120 days

aEMEEZERERRQA 12
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At 31 March 2011, trade receivables of approximately HK$60,291,000
(2010: HK$65,716,000) were past due but not considered to be impaired
because these mainly relate to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these
trade receivables is as follows:

55
Group

-2 =
2011 2010
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
35,745 47,676
11,469 12,121
13,077 5,919
60,291 65,716

The credit quality of trade receivables neither past due nor impaired
has been assessed by reference to historical information about the
counterparty default rates. The existing counterparties do not have
significant defaults in the past.

At 31 March 2011, trade receivables of approximately HK$2,447,000
(2010: HK$1,467,000) were impaired. The amount of the provision
was HK$2,447,000 as of 31 March 2011 (2010: HK$1,467,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers which are in
unexpected difficult economic situations. The ageing of these receivables
is as follows:

55
Group
-2 =
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
2,447 1,467
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25. EWEXREBEREWREE®)

At -

(c)

(d)

(&)

FEU S KRR B R EZ T

REA—H

& Ui 2 AR TRURR (B
FAFI AR R A

JRE Ui 2 2 AR TR 8K

R=A=+—H

BREERE  BEEEBRZEAELHEER
HAFE R-_EBE——F=A=+—HFF
BEKZEAAE=5% L IWE R RTE
R mMEHIEHEBI20K(ZE—FF:
120K ) » H A+ 35,766,000/ L(= & —
TF 11,551,000 L) EEAARE - K
—Z—ZTF=A=+—H8" BEREE+THEE
1,485,000 & S B AT TT ©

31 March 2011

25. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note: (continued)

(c) Movement on the provision for trade receivables is as follows:
£H
Group

-2 —E—F

2011 2010

FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000

At 1 April 1,467 2,745

Provision for trade receivable impairment 2,285 596
Receivables written off during the year as

uncollectable (1,305) (1,874)

At 31 March 2,447 1,467

(d)

Notes receivable

The carrying amounts of notes receivable approximate their fair values
due to their short maturity. As at 31 March 2011, all the notes receivable
represent bank acceptance notes issued by third parties with average
maturity of within 120 days (2010: 120 days), of which HK$35,766,000 are
denominated in RMB (2010: HK$11,551,000). As at 31 March 2010, notes
receivable of HK$1,485,000 were denominated in US$.
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



B 7% ¥R 3R Y R

Notes to the Financial Statements

—F——F=HA=+—H

26. i‘gﬁ?\klﬁ C BE R E B WK
I

31 March 2011

26. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES
&8 AF
Group Company

=g —E-F =2 —ZE-=
2011 2010 2011 2010
FET FET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TR RIE Prepayments 17,649 8,961 134 109
HERE Rental deposits 670 635 - —
H At pE R IE (K 5t) Other receivables (note) 18,646 19,876 - -
36,965 29,472 134 109

HieF - Note:

R-ZE—ZTE=A=+—0 HtbEKRZEFEE
—BEHBYBE-ERAMRZERR R R BB
3,868,000/ 7T ° BIEAEBEZ B I E =F ] L
ZERBERBERER D E  BRRZTTNF+—
A=1+RHEEMEE  mMEBBEEREE A T HER
BANZE=ENEDZ TREEZ - RERN - £E
ARERERERS  ME=FRRAREIFECEBZ
S30F -

EMEEZERERQA 122
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Included in other receivables of the Group as at 31 March 2010 was a loan due
from an independent third party company of approximately HK$3,868,000, which
was unsecured and interest free. Pursuant to the original and supplementary
loan agreement entered into with the third party, the loan was repayable on 30
November 2009 whereby the Group may at any time before that convert the
amount into 10% equity interest in the third party. During the year ended 31
March 2011, the Group decided not to acquire the equity interest in the third party
company. The entire receivable was fully repaid by the third party during the year.
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27. RAeRkREEEY 27.
IRITHE R Cash at banks
IR EEER Cash on hand

RekAeEBYUTIEEREL :

P TT HK$
AR RMB
ET Us$
MEXRTT CAD
HAh Others

RITEFREG RS RRITHFRZFBFI=
I BHA - KR Z RITERTHOARE R
AR BIF R o B A AR BINE H 10
RETR - HFRRPBEBFOINERE -

31 March 2011

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

%m A
Group Company

S —z-T —%-—— —F-T
2011 2010 2011 2010
FET TFrET FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
99,582 161,850 439 962
4,798 4,777 — _
104,380 166,627 439 962

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

£E A

Group Company
=hg—= = —F—— 2=
2011 2010 2011 2010
FHET TrET FHET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
25,109 34,358 439 962
15,024 19,398 - —
53,022 103,786 - —
11,023 8,898 - =
202 187 — —
104,380 166,627 439 962

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The Group’s cash and bank balance denominated in RMB
are deposited with banks in the Mainland China. The conversion of these
RMB-denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance
of funds out of Mainland China is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the Government of the People’s
Republic of China.
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28. f&&

&
REHERITE R
RITEFTER
R—FREHZ
RITEK
BB —F R ARG
BREREBESRZRITER

mEHERE

L)
BMEHEEEE
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Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

28. BORROWINGS

Current

Short-term bank borrowings

Trust receipts bank loans

Portion of bank borrowings repayable
within one year

Portion of bank borrowings due for
repayment after one year which
contains a repayment on demand
clause

Finance lease liabilities

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities

31 March 2011

&8

Group
== —Z2-= —ZEN
=HA=+—H =A=+—~H mA—A
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
FET T THET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(871 — (871 —
KizE2.1a) FizE2.12)
(As restated (As restated
Note 2.1a) Note 2.1a)
18,000 13,000 16,000
178,372 151,800 109,222
29,080 29,471 35,488
53,512 36,680 34,053
459 — 1,078
279,423 230,951 195,841
684 — =
280,107 230,951 195,841
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28. {%E(%} 28. BORROWINGS (continued)

BREHEAENIN MABRERSE®RER
BRZBEX  REHEIHABE—FA -

Except for finance lease liabilities, all borrowings are with a contractual
maturity of within one year as a result of the repayment on demand

clauses.

BEERATE®BAR : The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following

currencies:
£
Group

-=2—— —Z2-= —ZE2N

=H=+—H =A=+—H mA—H

31 March 31 March 1 April

2011 2010 2009

FHET TFET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ABIT HK$ 225,947 180,984 195,483

T us$ 54,160 49,967 358

280,107 230,951 195,841

REEBBRASEE R E R inEFHE X The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the

LU weighted average effective interest rates at the balance sheet date are as
follows:

55
Group

-2 —=—= —ZETH

=A=+—8H =RA=+—~H MA—H

31 March 31 March 1 April

2011 2010 2009

FET FET FET

HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

— FEBEX — at floating rates 280,107 230,951 195,841

125 aEMEEERER A A
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28. BE»

RITEFEER
RITE
MEHEERE

28.

Trust receipt bank loans

Bank borrowings

Finance lease liabilities

PRA B A SRR I H AR E (B S A P EARIE -

SR RERERERESNET

REHEERERE
- — R
— —FE2RFRN

- BEEE Z R
s E M

aNEEERAERAA
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31 March 2011

BORROWINGS (continued)

=B =7 —ZZTN
=HA=+—H =A=+—H MmA—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
BT ET BT e BT e
HK$ us$ HK$ Us$ HK$ US$
1.96% 2.01% 2.09% 2.12% 3.37% 2.20%
2.25% - 1.90% — 3.44% —
1.50% - — - 2.89% —

All borrowings are unsecured and the carrying amounts approximate
their fair values.

The Group’s finance lease obligations were analysed as follows:

£8
Group

== —Z2—= —ZEN
=HA=+—H =A=+—~H” mA—A
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
FET TFrET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total minimum lease payments
— Within 1 year 474 — 1,083
— Between two and five years 693 = =
1,167 — 1,083

Less: Future finance charges

(24) — (5)
1,143 — 1,078
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—FE——F=H=1+—H 31 March 2011
28. fE&#® 28. BORROWINGS (continued)
MEHEEENEES AT : The present value of finance lease liabilities is analysed as follows:
£8
Group
= — —TTh
=BA=+—H =A=+—~H mA—H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2011 2010 2009
FET FAET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
—FA Within one year 459 - 1,078
—FEERFEA Between two and five years 684 - =
1,143 — 1,078
29. EEXIRE 29. TRADE PAYABLES
AEBHOEEEARERS  RR—RBA=TX Payment terms with majority of the suppliers are on open account.
BENRNTK e Certain suppliers grant credit period ranging from 30 to 60 days.
JERT & BRI BREC DT T The ageing analysis of trade payables is as follows:
£
Group
—E—— —ZF-=
2011 2010
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
PRNTXR Less than 60 days 156,947 237,737
ATRE—BH=-TtX 60 days to 120 days 25,851 12,504
BB —BHZTX Over 120 days 3,297 8,468
186,095 258,709
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29. EfEHERE® 29. TRADE PAYABLES (continued)
BT EFERIBERIATEB AR : Trade payables are denominated in the following currencies:
£8
Group

—E—— =T
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BIT HK$ 14,146 12,726
AR RMB 9,876 14,949
£ uss$ 153,148 223,593
mexT CAD 8,243 6,154
Efh Others 682 1,287
186,095 258,709

30. ENERNEMENEIE 30. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

£H AT
Group Company

=== =% Si== =%
2011 2010 2011 2010
FET FAET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B RIEAT Accrual for salaries and bonuses 10,487 10,535 - =
B Receipts in advance 8,313 7,580 - =
Bt EEER Accrued operating expenses 7,181 7,699 1,015 425
Bt EEER Construction fee payables 881 389 — —
H i FE TR Other payables 1,251 1,566 - =
28,113 27,769 1,015 425

aEMEEERAERAXA 128
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31. ELEFREHR 31. DEFERRED INCOME TAX
ERAEENAIBEAREBEEHERESHRES Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
B - MIRERRIES KR — B Bk - Al legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax
A REFGEHEEREEMSHAaERRAE liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal
e AHEERERLEZES  BEEEZE authority. The balances shown in the consolidated balance sheet are,
HBIAT - after appropriate offsetting, as follows:

£8
Group
—E—— =%
2011 2010
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BEFHEEE - Deferred income tax assets, to be recovered after
+ =@ A& UkME more than 12 months 1,086 927
BEEFEEE Deferred income tax liabilities, to be settled after
RTZEA%&EE more than 12 months (1,885) (1,877)
R A RFE Net deferred income tax liabilities (799) (950)
BRI BN T The movement on deferred income tax account is as follows:
fj.
Group
—E—— —ZF-=
2011 2010
FETT FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
E347) Beginning of the year (950) (3,175)
FERERCRAZ11) Credited to the income statement (Note 117) 151 2,225
HiR End of the year (799) (950)
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31. EZEFBH = 31. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

FREEHREERAE S (LR — B

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to offsetting of

& 7 #EER K EERT ) IAT - balances within the same taxation jurisdiction is as follows:
ELEHEEE Deferred tax assets
Hig
Tax losses
= F— —ET-=F
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
H34 Beginning of the year 1,798 712
EFERLER Credited to the income statement 325 1,086
BR End of the year 2,123 1,798
BEHEBEAE Deferred tax liabilities
IERBIETE
HEHIE Accelerated tax g
Withholding tax depreciation Total
-F—— —E—F —F—— —E-F -2 —E—F
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
FET FAET FET FAET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
REA—H At 1 April 423 196 2,325 3,691 2,748 3,887
FEFBEER S,
(FEER) Charged/(credited) to the
income statement 609 227 (435) (1,366) 174 (1,139)
R=A=+—H At 31 March 1,032 423 1,890 2,325 2,922 2,748

ST B T8 & BE T B 18 2R AJ A £5 FE AR A Ui Al
SHEMNMEBTIEN AR RAAEREER
YEMERR o ZN SR [BNF & 3t R 51 F 48 4982,008,000
BIL(ZZ — T 4F : 84,441,00078 7T ) HERIE
EFRIBEEH18,492,0008 (=T —ZF :
20,699,000 % 7T ) bt 5 %50 18 &5 18 AT 45 85 A 2R
WERB N R-_TE——F=A=+—8 -
R HIEE B 473,968,008 (= —F
£ :77,336,000 8 TR -_E——E_T—HF
HEER) BR_FE——E=2_FT—FHHE
fE % - 1M # 8,085,000 L(=ZZT — T 4F :

7,105,000 78 7T.) AIl AJ 4 BR 5 4 35 % 2 2 FE R T HK$7,105,000).

S o

aMEEERAERRXA 130
Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carried forward to
the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through the future
taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of approximately HK$18,492,000 (2010: HK$20,699,000)
in respect of accumulated losses amounting to approximately
HK$82,003,000 (2010: HK$84,441,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 March 2011, accumulated tax
loss amounting to approximately HK$73,968,000 is expiring in 2012 to
2016 (2010: approximately HK$77,336,000, expiring in 2011 to 2015),
while the remaining balance of approximately HK$8,035,000 can be
carried forward indefinitely to offset against future taxable income (2010:
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32. KA

EE
B EAEE0.10/87T
BETRER
BB EAEE0.10/87T
HAH
1T R AR AIE T 31T Y A 17
(ka2 ()
BRI (A3 (i)
HIR

(i) R_E——&=ZA=+—HLEE"

32. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
Beginning of the year
Issue of shares upon exercise of
warrants (note (i)

Purchase of own shares (note (i)

End of the year

Notes:

RER 0]

PRAERERATIE AR AN X A AR

(i

RBE-_Z—ZTF=F=+—BHILFEE "
326,000 KRR ELE 2 ITE  LARE
326,000 A&A% 15 - #8A{E#) 130,400 78T °

R-ZZFE——F=ZA=+—H ' RAPEEAED
ARE B

RBE_Z-—ZTE=-A=1+—RBLEE " 2
AILA A 7,710 78 s B [81 26,000 R AR 19 © &
LR D HAR BBV °

(ii)

31 March 2011

= —Z-T
2011 2010

ROEE H{E ianEd= H1{E

Number of Nominal Number of Nominal

shares value shares value

FR FET FHR FET

’000 HK$’000 '000 HK$’000

1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

303,944 30,394 303,644 30,364

- - 326 33

= = (26) (3)

303,944 30,394 303,944 30,394

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no warrants were utilised to

subscribe for the shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a total of 326,000 warrants were
utilised to subscribe for 326,000 shares in the Company at an aggregate

consideration of HK$130,400.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Company did not repurchase

any of its issued shares.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Company repurchased 26,000
shares for HK$7,710. These shares were subsequently cancelled.
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34.

31 March 2011

EEBKRE 33. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS
RNAFREE BERESTE - AIRLtRAEE The Company has an employee share option scheme, under which
ZEE(BEARAZHITES )R ERE it may grant options to employees (including executive directors of
RERARAZKRM  ERZUAAGERE the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to a
BITRARE(TBERITEBREMETT 2’ maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
7)30% B - ZERETEEHBEEARFZ Company from time to time excluding any shares issued upon exercise
EESETE U)X RARMDABRERFH of employee share options. The exercise price will be determined by
ZWmE ()BERTEREBAIAERS A the Company’s board of directors and shall at least be the highest of (i)
KRRIZAD 2 FHUWTHE (i) AR BIRD 2 the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of the
EEER010EB T —EARSE AL - options, (i) an average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the options, and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares of HK$0.10 each.
HE_ZT——F=A=+—8 ' ' A2aER No share options were granted or exercised during the year ended 31
HTEERE(ZCE—ZEF ) RR2F March 2011 (2010: Nil) and no share options were outstanding as at 31
—F=A=+—H  BERTEZBEREZ March 2011 (2010: Nil).
T—TF:FT)o
o R RE L 34. WARRANTS
HETEEE HRARYE
RIEE i) Utilised Lapsed PR
RTAH e Subscription  Beginning of during during End of
Date of grant Exercise period price the year the year the year the year
“TTtF-A=+=H “TTtF-A=+=HZ
“Z-——f&—-AZ+ZH
23 January 2007 23 January 2007 to 22 January 2012 HK$0.40 11,987,089 - - 11,987,089

BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILEE  E3AR
REREATEARB AR R Z G °

BE-_ZT—ZZF=-—FA=+—HItEE &
326,000 f% 58 B # A 2 17 fF © A 58 8% 326,000
BARZ D - BAREX130,400/87T °
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During the year ended 31 March 2011, no warrants were utilised to subscribe for
the shares of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, a total of 326,000 warrants were utilised
to subscribe for 326,000 shares in the Company at an aggregate consideration
of HK$130,400.
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—FE——F=H=1+—H 31 March 2011
35. f#i& 35. RESERVES
(a) £H (a) Group
e
SREE
EftffE
Available-
- for-sale
BE 2R financial
ERGE() Capital REkE SRR B (i) assets REEH
Capital redemption Exchange Statutory revaluation Retained @t
reserve (i) reserve reserve reserve (ii) reserve profits Total
AT &L &L FET FET AT &L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZ-5F As 1 April 2010
MA—A 41,201 1,402 11,411 920 163 60,943 115,210
KEERF Profit for the year - - - - - 8,194 8,194
MNEHE Exchange translations - - 2,123 - - - 2,123
AEHESHEE  Fairvalue gains on
AEAHK avallable-for-sale
financial assets - - - - 82 - 82
RZB-—-F At 31 March 2011
=A=t-H 41,201 1,402 13,534 90 245 69,137 125,609
BT : Represented by:
BEASERS Proposed dividends 3,039
Efth Others 66,098
69,137
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35. f@fEw=)

(a) SEE)

RZZENE
MA—H
rEEER
S E
RirEE
HHESREE
HEAH

As 1 April 2009

Loss for the year
Exchange translations
Purchase of own shares
Fair value gains on
avallable-for-sale
financial assets
Dividends

At 31 March 2010

35. RESERVES (continued)

31 March 2011

(a) Group (continued)

e

SRHEE

EfifE

Available-

&% for-sale

RE R financial

ERRE() Capital RERE I (i) assets REEA
Capital redemption Exchange Statutory revaluation Retained @zt
reserve (i) reserve reserve reserve (i) reserve profits Total
AT AT & AT BT AT AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
41,201 1,394 1,061 0 26 95,010 138,782
- - - - - (31,630) (31,630)
- - 10,350 - - - 10,350
— 8 - — — ® —
- - - - 137 - 187
_ - = - - (2,429) (2,429)
41,201 1,402 11,411 0 163 60,943 115,210
Note:

(i)

REBZERNFEEREARRETZ
BHEERRBRER - ANOFEE
BHAEETAQRMNMERQ B KRR
EEMECZEZH MER=_ZZTZ
F=A=1+—BHERFERNREIR
f& 2 T 18 M 2E 4 A9 B #2 51,594,000
BT °

TREAEZERRZEEAR
T OREAEETARBRARZ
B8 - R B AR SE TS S N B
BARER -
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(i

Capital reserve of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company
and the nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries
transferred to the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation
in 1994, plus the credit of HK$51,594,000 from share capital as
a result of a reduction of the Company’s share capital took place
during the year ended 31 March 2000.

Statutory reserve of a subsidiary in Mainland China can be utilised
to offset future losses or increase in capital of the subsidiary.
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35. @#E=

31 March 2011

35. RESERVES (continued)

(b) AT (b) Company
EAREE 2
Capital MAZER () REBAEF
redemption Contributed Retained st
reserve surplus (i) profits Total
FETT FAET FETT FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
RZZT—ZF At 1 April 2010
mA—H 1,402 72,309 18,003 91,714
AREZ AT Profit for the year — - 13 13
R-B——% At 31 March 2011
=A=+-—H 1,402 72,309 18,016 91,727
AT - Represented by
R A HIR% B Proposed dividends 3,039
Hh Others 14,977
18,016
R_EZNF At 1 April 2009
MA—H 1,394 72,309 20,456 94,159
REEFEEE Loss for the year — — (16) (16)
17 [2] Purchase of own shares 8 - 8) —
=y Dividends — — (2,429) (2,429)
R=Z—=F At 31 March 2010
=B=+—H 1,402 72,309 18,003 91,714
Hiat - Note:

(i)

ARRBAZHBABRHAEEBR
—NANEOFEEARFARAF BT ZH
HEEA AR Daiwa BVI Limited
BRETEBRIEWNBAREEF
EMEZEZSE MER=ZZTZZTF
= A=+—BMEEEAREHRH K
NTEE T 2= 4 K B #2 51,594,000 7
5o

REBRE-NN-FREE - &
ABBA 2K T RE - HERE TR
RERERAERE - HEHAR
B DK - () DK & TR HE
BEPZ EBHR () EEFEERE
BREBEITRARBDGEZ B

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference
between the nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange for the issued ordinary shares of Daiwa BVI Limited and
the value of net assets of its underlying subsidiaries pursuant to
a group reorganisation in 1994, plus the credit of HK$51,594,000
from share capital as a result of a reduction of the Company’s
share capital took place during the year ended 31 March 2000.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, contributed
surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition
that the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make
a distribution out of contributed surplus if () it is, or after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (ii)
the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium account.
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36. AR ERER 36. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
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FLOWS
(a) BRBIBRR (18 B E E T (EH) (a) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income tax to cash
EEZRESRERAGX (used in)/generated from operations
—E—— ==
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(&F5 —
MizE2.1a)
(As restated
Note 2.1a)
BB ADER(EIE) Profit/(loss) before income tax 14,659 (25,951)
FE — Adjustments for —
FEUA Interest income (73) (82)
FEFX Interest expense 5,239 3,701
o 3 {55 R A B Amortisation of land use rights 402 402
Y - HES RRIEITE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13,038 16,365
B AERH Amortisation of other intangible assets 1,124 —
UL & SRR IERE Impairment of trade receivables 2,285 596
EfFREREE Provision for impairment of inventories = 23,605
EFRE Write-down of inventories 2,482 2,228
W% - HES RS ERE Impairment of property, plant and equipment — 14,200
BN R RE 2 8H Write-off of investment in a jointly controlled entity - 1
HEYHE  HEBRREZ (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and
(zs) E18 equipment (90) 50
SRISTA T AN EEE Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments — 201
39,066 35,316
KEESED Changes in working capital:
FE Inventories 5,838 (56,887)
FEU L 2BRT8 « EUKZEHE K, Trade and notes receivables and amount due
JRE LBt 5 A R FRIE from an associated company (46,137) (56,656)
FEfTFZIE - e N EMEW  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables
RIE (11,480) (12,587)
FEf- & SERRTE Trade payables (73,246) 121,520
FEA B A R B RS 5ROE Accruals and other payables (148) 10,891
KEFH(ER) /EEZ Cash (used in)/generated from operations
FIEE (86,107) 41,597
EEHRERERA  HEWE - #:E (b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from
REBENFREXRESE ! disposals of property, plant and equipment comprise:
=2— — T
2011 2010
FET FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
BREFE Net book amount 1,323 168
HEME - KeSREMHE Gain/(loss) on disposal of property,
Wa,/ (E518) plant and equipment 90 (50)
HEME - HeSREMHE Proceeds from disposals of property,
Frf5 308 plant and equipment 1,413 118
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—F——F=H=+—H 31 March 2011
37. REFE 7zE&RMIA 37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
REERAEXRBHzKEFEI Sz T AR The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments
BT as at the balance sheet date are as follows:
55 Group
—F——
2011
AHEE
EHRMEE
Available-
for-sale fEEREWFIE
financial Loans and HE
THEE Financial assets assets receivables Total
FET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
A ESREE Available-for-sale financial assets 387 — 387
JE U 4% 22 B2 TR I pE I EE Trade and notes receivables — 254,746 254,746
JE Wi B 8 X B SR IE Amount due from an associated company - 894 894

BREENRE  Zek Financial assets included in prepayments,
EEWRAN SRS E deposits and other receivables included in

BN 26 Note 26 - 19,316 19,316
HeRBEEEEY Cash and cash equivalents - 104,380 104,380
387 379,336 379,723
SRMEE
85 R A
Financial
liabilities
at amortised e
THEE Financial liabilities cost Total
FETT FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET & AR Trade payables 186,095 186,095
RITEE Bank borrowings 280,107 280,107
BREERNEBRNEMEN  Financial liabilities included in
HABMEHAE accruals and other payables
BIEENTES0 included in Note 30 19,800 19,800
486,002 486,002
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37. REFISZEMTIAw

SE(%E)

EHEE

AHEESREE

e R RIA K IR IR

& Wikt = A RISRIA

BRAERMNRIE - e Kk
HAb R AR S B & E
BIREMEE 26

BehBREEEY

EHEE

PR
RITEE
BREERNER
R E MR R EY
SREEBEEMRES0
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37. FINANCIAL

(continued)

Group (continued)

Financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets

Trade and notes receivables

Amount due from an associated company

Financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables included in
Note 26

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial liabilities

Trade payables

Bank borrowings

Financial liabilities included in accruals
and other payables included in
Note 30

31 March 2011

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

—ET-=
2010
AT S
CREE
Available-
for-sale BB &EWFKIE
financial Loans and (g
assets receivables Total
FET FEIT FET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
305 — 305
— 208,270 208,270
— 4,382 4,382
— 20,511 20,511
— 166,627 166,627
305 399,790 400,095
SRAE
BEHA AR
Financial
liabilities
at amortised “wiE
cost Total
FEIT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
258,709 258,709
230,951 230,951
20,189 20,189
509,849 509,849
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37.

38.

REEE S Z2EMIAE®

al

AT

EHEE—FERENME

31 March 2011

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

(continued)

Company

Financial assets — loans and receivables

—E—— —=—F
2011 2010
FET FETT
HK$’000 HK$’000
E At pE M B IR FE M 5 26 Other receivables included in Note 26 134 109
RERBREEED Cash and cash equivalents 439 962
573 1,071
SEAE  REBHERE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
BIEEREMNERREMEMN KNSR Financial liabilities included in accruals and
BEBIEEMES0 other payables included in Note 30 1,015 425
AIE 38. COMMITMENTS
(a) B REE (a) Capital commitments

N FR-F-TF=A=1—
B - AEER L RIEFHEARED
T

At 31 March 2011 and 2010, the Group’s capital commitment in
respect of land and buildings were as follows:

£
Group
-B—— —ZE—F
2011 2010
FRET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
BRI ERFHRER Contracted but not provided for 63 1,547
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38.

39.

A
(b) EEHEARE
R-E——FER —_E—TF=F=+—

B SRt RET R RE 2&EH
Wik EEZSEROARERRDNT

38.

31 March 2011

COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Operating lease commitments

At 31 March 2011 and 2010, the future aggregate minimum lease
payments in respect of land and buildings under non-cancellable
operating leases were as follows:

LU
55
Group
=2 —T-=
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$000
EF—FR Not later than one year 2,293 5,566
FEFEERFA Later than one year and not later than five years 4,704 9,354
6,997 14,920

TRERME  SEZEERO KA —
EERE

(c) RZE——FR_F—ZFTF=A=1+—
B RalRBHMERZHEIE-

FREALRS

RZT——F=H=+—H ' Leading Trade
Limited & China Capital Holdings Investment
Limited 2 BI#E B AR A 71 20.04% (ZF—=F -
20.04%) % 31.14% (— T — T4 : 31.14%) fi%
e BARARIYAARESEBELEKMR
ik TS - AR AR AIERA T -

IMASERE T BEE NS 2 ERA B ET
HMEANE R REEHR DM BMEERE
BEARFEXRZMANEBT - IAEENZ
FREIARNERTE  AIZHTRAEENSE
BEAL - BREALAIARBEARER -

B gk B 0 PTREEE A T E RN
AEERBEATHRBEEBHITLHE KNS
BEAERZAREEANTRZEEN AR
W
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39.

Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms of one to
five years.

(c) The Company did not have other significant commitments at 31
March 2011 and 2010.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2011, Leading Trade Limited and China Capital Holdings
Investment Limited owned 20.04% (2010: 20.04%) and 31.14% (2010:
31.14%) of the Company’s shares respectively. These companies are
under the control of the Company’s directors, Mr. Lau Tak Wan and
Ms. Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, who are collectively regarded as the ultimate
controlling parties.

Parties are considered to be related to the Group if the Group or any
member of its key management personnel or their close family members
has the ability, directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over
the parties in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa,
or where the Group and the parties are subject to common significant
influence. Related parties may be individuals or entities.

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions
entered into in the ordinary course of business between the Group
and its related parties and the balances arising from related party
transactions in addition to the related party information shown elsewhere
in the financial statements.



B 7% i 3% MY 5 Notes to the Financial Statements

—FE——F=H=1+—H 31 March 2011

39. BERAEAETRF =) 39. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) BEERBEALTZRS (a) Transactions with related parties
£E
Group

=z —E—=
2011 2010
Jiokza FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

$HE T DSC (B2 /A7)  Sales to DSC (as an associated company) (i) 1,968 604

NeEEHERESA Operating lease rental paid to 361 Alden Inc.

361 Alden Inc. (ii) 1,408 1,308

RE4 T DSC (Bt=/AF]) Goods return to an associated company (i) - (7,354)

Hiat - Note:

(i) HDSCHR HEEREH R EHK (i) Sales and purchases with DSC are made based on mutually
e agreed terms.

(ii) 361 Alden Inc. B2158 £ &R 5T (ii) 361 Alden Inc. is beneficially owned by Mr Lau Tak Wan and Ms
BELET(ARRAES)XRAES - & Chan Yuen Mei, Pinky, directors of the Company. Operating lease
BEHREHSHE S XRBEIRE ° rental expense is determined at rate mutually agreed between the

parties.

(i) REFE EEREDSCHHRE (iif) During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group agreed
LA $5 DSC R & B #9509 7XIH - ik to accept return of certain goods from DSC, an associated
THERE 75 R B RER - company, as partial settlement of the amount due from DSC. The

transactions were entered into based on mutually agreed terms.

(b) EERAEALRE (b) Balances with related parties
AT
Company

-2 =%
2011 2010
k3 FET FET
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
NI E O Amounts due from subsidiaries (i) 292,910 291,759

£8

Group

=2 —E-F
2011 2010
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000
FEU DSC FKIE Amount due from DSC (ii) 894 4,382
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40.

BEHEEALRZ @)
(b) HEBBEALHEE)
Bt -

(i) MEARERAEER 28REA
MEREEE - ZEBABTARR

(ii) JEY DSCRIBHRE R HimEEI
UNETAR RZEBE——F R -%
—THE=A=+—H8 BE2HC
BR—a =t REH -

RZE——FR=-_ZT—ZFTF=A
=+—H BHRZBERRFEN
BEER UEETRRKREER
BESBHBELERERE - R=F
——FR-ZF-ZTF=RA=1+—

39.

31 March 2011

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (continued)
Note

(i) The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and non-
interest bearing, and are repayable on demand. These amounts
are denominated in HK$.

(ii) The amount due from DSC represents trading transactions with
the associated company which is denominated in US$. As at 31
March 2011 and 2010, the entire balance aged over 120 days.

As of 31 March 2011 and 2010, certain of the above receivables
were past due but not considered to be impaired as continuous
cash repayments have been received from the associated
company on those relevant receivables. As at 31 March 2011 and
2010, these balance had been past due for a period over 120

B #@EpafBe-—Ba-_tx- days.
(c) FTEEHEAS ZHREN (c) Key management compensation
Group
-2 —E-=F
2011 2010
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
T& KL Salaries and allowances 7,738 7,473
TE4L Bonuses 820 620
BIREKA — FEREHEKETE Pension costs — defined contribution plans 328 338
8,886 8,431

HERHRER

RZTE——FMOA=Z++tH aMEFEHHE
BRERAB(ARRGBIZEZEMBAR)HEEE
([EEENDN(RRRZHITESR )] L RER
BTl  (ER—EEREE - BREH
& ANMEFEHEZERER A A 317200 &
DDHL B PS4 + #ARMEE A 200ETT © 58
K& G EFMETEEERARARZ10%
BE-RA - AMETEEERERAFINE
BBS LTI RBEHE L FHART - 1
BREmEEEENRF

TERA ERHER - NS EE R ARND BER
ZEREFMERREREE 6 P EMER T E

7 °
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40.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 27 April 2011, DDHL, a wholly owned subsidiary, entered into
an incentive subscription agreement “the Agreement”, as a form of
employment incentive scheme, with Mr. Mak Hon Kai Stanly (“Mr. Mak”),
an executive director of the Company. Pursuant to the Agreement, DDHL
will issue 200 DDHL B-Shares, which represents 10% equity interest in
DDHL upon completion, to Mr. Mak at an aggregate subscription price of
US$200. On the same date, DDHL also entered into a service agreement
with Mr. Mak for an initial term of five years and would be automatically
renewed for another term of five years upon its expiry.

Upon completion of the above arrangement, an employee expenses will
be recognised in the consolidated financial statements of the Group as
the above arrangement was considered as cash-settled share-based
payment scheme.
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3. BROZEEROHE

(@) R B AT 8] R AN R B (AT EL AR
BEAICREE2HRHEFTE BR
RETEMAET RSRNDEE
EHRPIEBBERRATREEITREZ
30% °

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has, in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), adopted the
New Share Option Scheme, as approved by the Shareholders of the Company at
the Annual General Meeting held on 18 August 2005.

A summary of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out as
below:

1. Purpose

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives
or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and to
attract human resources for the growth of the Group.

2. Who may join

On and subject to the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer to grant an Option
to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion select.

The basis of eligibility of Participants to the grant of any Options shall
be determined by the directors from time to time on the basis of their
contribution to the development and growth of the Group.

3. Maximum number of Shares

(a) The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time.

143 BN EERKRERARA A

Daiwa Associate Holdings Limited



Share Option Information

BB st &l

3.

BRITZRESROEE (&)
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EETFHEENEBABERERBBHE
ArtEst &2 HE BT 2 10% ([ —&
FHEIER])

ARRAAEERRAEBRAE LHER
#—MRETE LR RRE R AIRBR
THARBK - MERITERE S A
REZEMEMERESSSR Lz 2
BB ETT T A AT 2 AR ARk
NMS#BBR 7 LRERE 2 BE TR
0.210%  MAERTEZ LRE - RIFH
BB AR At 8 o N R R 2 A o] H At i A A
AR A E R 2 B (B
SRATEBAERT I R AR A 2 EE ML
AR I HARITE Ot - CIEEX
BT 2B B EER -
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HAERTIEE 2 AR E -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3. Maximum number of Shares (continued)

(o)

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which have
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Group must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the New
Share Option Scheme (the “General Scheme Limit”).

The Company may refresh the General Scheme Limit from time to
time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and the issue of a circular in compliance with
Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company in connection
therewith, provided that the total number of Shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company under the limit as “refreshed” must not exceed
10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
limit and for the purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”,
options previously granted under the New Share Option Scheme
or any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised in accordance
with the New Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company) will not be counted.

The Company may issue a circular in compliance with
Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company and seek
separate approval by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting to grant Options beyond the General Scheme Limit
or, if applicable, the limit referred to in (c) above to Grantees
specifically identified by the Company before such approval is
sought.
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Maximum entitlement of each Participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company (including exercised,
cancelled or outstanding options) to each Participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the time the Option is granted to the participant (the “Individual
Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in
any 12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant,
shall be subject to the issue of a circular in compliance with Listing Rules
to the shareholders of the Company and the shareholders approval in
general meeting of the Company with such Participant and his associates
abstaining from voting.

Grant of options to connected persons

(a) Any grant of Options under the New Share Option Scheme
to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the
Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-executive
Director who is the Grantee of the Options).

(b) Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or any of their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules), would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other scheme(s) of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total number
of Shares in issue; and
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5. BYIEEALTBREE) Grant of options to connected persons (continued)
(b) (#&) (b) (continued)
(ii) BERFE T ERE 2 BRI (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
MEFEZREBRBRAEES the Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5
JT million;
Bl it BT B RE . FEAERRIE such further grant of options must be approved by the shareholders of
MARRI AR H— DK - KNARZAT the Company. The Company must send a circular in compliance with
BRABEBATERBREARAE EREFBAZKRE Listing Rules to the shareholders of the Company. All connected persons
WAt EEA T RBRRAE EHE of the Company must abstain from voting on the relevant resolution at
5?&%%%?&&%? ENBEEZBRAE KA L such general meeting, except that any such connected person may vote
M o AR AE® ERER L iR against the relevant resolution at the general meeting provided that his
%Z%Hi’ﬂmﬁﬁhmﬁiﬁ& intention to do so has been stated in the circular. Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be taken on a poll.
6. BIREZEN Payment on acceptance of Option offer
EMBEIRERAMN10BTEARE - AR F A consideration of HK$10 is payable on acceptance of the offer of grant
PRI ERERE 28 HAWEIRAR AEE of an Option. An offer for the grant of an Option shall be deemed to have
ZEBNRE 7 BIREE A ER A - W RN been accepted when the duplicate letter of the offer is duly completed,
ANAZ10BTEEZENEREZRE © B signed and returned to the Company with payment of HK$10 as
B SR B E AT AFTER - consideration within 28 days from the date of offer.
7. 1TIERFPR Exercise of an Option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme at any time during the five-year period
commencing immediately from the date of grant and expiring on the last
day of the five-year period.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of
grant of Options to a Participant, there are no minimum period for which
an option must be held before it can be exercised.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

8.

10.

Performance target

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and are stated in the offer of
grant of Options to a Participant, a Participant is not required to achieve
any performance targets before any Options granted under the New
Share Option Scheme can be exercised.

Subscription price for Shares

The Subscription Price under the New Share Option Scheme shall be a
price determined by the directors and notified to a Participant at the time
of the offer of grant, and shall not be lower than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of the offer of grant, which
must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the Shares for the time being.

Ranking of Shares

The Shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an Option will be subject
to all the provisions of the Company’s Bye-Laws for the time being in
force and will rank pari passu with the fully paid Shares in issue on the
date of allotment and accordingly will entitle the holders to participate
in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on or after the date
of allotment other than any dividend or other distributions previously
declared or recommended or resolved to be paid or made if the record
date therefor shall be before the date of allotment.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

11.

12.

13.

Restrictions on the time of grant of options

A grant of Options may not be made after a price sensitive event
has occurred or a price sensitive matter has been the subject of a
decision until such price sensitive information has been published in the
newspapers. In particular, the Board shall not offer the grant of an Option
to any Participant during the period commencing one month immediately
preceding the earlier of (i) the date of the meeting of the Directors for
the approval of the Company’s interim or annual results, and (ii) the last
date on which the Company must publish its interim or annual results
announcement under its listing agreement with the Stock Exchange and
ending on the date of the announcement of the results.

Period of the New Share Option Scheme

The New Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 5 years commencing on the date on which the New Share Option
Scheme become unconditional, after which no further Options will
be issued, and thereafter for so long as there are outstanding any
unexercised Options granted pursuant thereto and in order to give effect
to the exercise of any such Options or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the New Share Option Scheme.

The life of the New Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme had been expired on 17 August 2010.
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